





Risk reduction for Building Energy Efficiency investments Project H2020 n° 833112

D2.1

Report on technical risks in renovation

Project Coordinator: Annalisa Andaloro (EURAC)

Work Package Leader: Annalisa Andaloro (EURAC)

Deliverable Leader: Giulia Paoletti (EURAC)

With contributions from Federico Garzia, Martino Gubert and Ulrich Filippi Oberegger (EURAC)

1st Quality reviewer: Linda Tso (SINLOC)

2nd Quality reviewer: Graziano Salvalai (POLIMI)







Abstract

EEnvest project aims at supporting investors' decision making process by translating building's energy efficiency technical requirements into economic indicators. These indicators are in turn used to evaluate financial risks associated with deep renovation investment and to include non-energy benefits in asset evaluation models.

WP2 focuses on technical risk, developing a structured process able to determine reliability of a renovation project based on technical risk level. This latter is assessed through two independent economic indicators, energy gap and damage, presented to the reader or user as percentage of investment. Additionally, technical risk reduction actions are being investigated, classified, and implemented as correction factors in the technical risk calculation process, and later reported to the final users, as mitigation measures.

The calculation methodology as developed in WP2 permits to determine technical risk through two outputs (indicators), whose combination is able to describe the probabilistic trend of several occurrences linked to the renovation scenario set case by case. The EEnvest technical risk calculation runs thanks to a technical risks database, created ad hoc in WP2. The database collects several occurrences data that serve as technical risk benchmark, described through probability and impact. The technical risk calculation process extracts the amount risk related to the selected energy renovation measures from the technical risk database, and re-sizes the risk based on inputs of the building renovation project. Project input features are: building geometry (dimension, shape, etc.), planned energy performance (Primary Energy, Heating, cooling demands, etc.), including boundary condition (building site, etc.) and verification protocols.

The two technical risk indicators, energy gap and damage, will be integrated in the EEnvest web-based investment evaluation platform.





Document Information

Deliverable nature:	Report (R)
Dissemination level:	Public
Contractual delivery date:	30 June 2020(M12)
Actual delivery date:	26.06.2020
Version:	1.0
Total number of pages:	81
Keywords:	Technical risks in renovation, commercial buildings, risk identification, technical and financial performance

IST Project Number	H2020 - 833112	Acronym	EEnvest
Full Title	Risk reduction for Bu	ilding Energy Efficiency	investments
Project URL	http://www.eenvest.e	<u>u</u>	
EU Project Officer	Stavros STAMATOU	KOS	
Acknowledgement	This project has rece Horizon 2020 researd Agreement n°833112	ived funding from the E ch and innovation progr 2.	uropean Union's am under Grant
Disclaimer	The opinion stated in and not the opinion o Executive Agency for	this report reflects the f the European Commis SMEs.	opinion of the authors ssion nor that of the
	All EEnvest consortiu accurate and up to da do so. However, the liability for any inaccu liability for any direct, losses or damages of information.	Im members are also co ate information and take EEnvest consortium me Iracies or omissions no indirect, special, conse f any kind arising out of	ommitted to publish the greatest care to embers cannot accept r do they accept equential or other the use of this

Deliverable	Number	D2.1	Full Title	Repo renov inclue meas techr	ort on technical risks in vation of commercial buildings, ding risk identification, mitigation sures and their impact on nical and financial performance
Work Package	Number	WP2	Title	Tech	nical risk evaluation framework
Authors (Partner)	Giulia Pa (EURAC)	oletti (EURA	C), Fede	erico Ga	arzia (EURAC), Martino Gubert
Deliverable leader	Name	Giulia Paole	etti Pa	artner	EURAC





Abstract (for dissemination)	EEnvest project aims at supporting investors' decision making process by translating building's energy efficiency technical requirements into economic indicators. These indicators are in turn used to evaluate financial risks associated with deep renovation investment and to include non-energy benefits in asset evaluation models. The technical risk of renovation a project is in EEnvest web-platform classified and collected a database. In WP2 is been performed a calculation method developed "ad hoc" for commercial building renovation process able to determinate through two indicators, energy gap and damage, the economic deviation of a planned project. It calibrates the building data (inputs) with technical risk benchmark collected in a database, re-size the indicators (outputs), also integrating correction factors. These last are strictly connected at the renovation project and will be reporting to the users as mitigation measures, it will be performed in the D2.2.
Keywords	Technical risks in renovation, commercial buildings, risk identification, technical and financial performance

Version Log			
Issue Date	Rev. No.	Author	Change
02/12/2019	0.1	Giulia Paoletti	Draft
10/12/2019	0.2	Linda Tso	Follow up of rev 01
02/06/2020	0.3	Giulia Paoletti	Follow up of rev 02
10/06/2020	0.4	Linda Tso	Follow up of rev 03
16/06/2020	0.5	Giulia Paoletti	Follow up of rev 04
19/06/2020	0.6	Annalisa Andaloro	Follow up of rev 05
22/06/2020	0.7	Giulia Paoletti	Draft version with partners for feedback





Table of Contents

INT	RODUCTION	9
EXE	ECUTIVE SUMMARY	10
1	TECHNICAL RISK ANALYSIS	12
1.1	Definition	12
1.2	Technical risks in EEnvest project	12
1.2.1	1 Technical risks in building sector	13
2	EENVEST TECHNICAL RISKS ASSESSMENT	18
2.1	Overview on EEnvest web-platform technical risk calculation method	18
2.2	Methodology used for EEnvest technical risk assessment	19
2.2.′	1 Technical risk database Indicators 2.2.1.1 Energy performance gap 2.2.1.2 Damage	22 23 25
2.2.2	2 Database Correction factors	25
2.2.3	3 Database Alert	28
2.2.4	4 Mitigation measures	29
3	EENVEST TECHNICAL RISKS DATABASE	30
3.1	EENVEST TECHNICAL RISK DATABASE ORGANIZATION	30
3.2	Identification on technical risks for each building elements	31
3.3	Technical risks data collection: probability and impacts identification	52 52 54 55
4	DATABASE INDICATORS RESULT: TWO EXAMPLES	57
4.1	Window element risk indicators. 4.1.1 Literature review. 4.1.2 Interviews. 4.1.3 Parametric energy performance simulation. 4.1.3.1 Parametric data inputs used for window – energy gap indicator . 4.1.3.2 Parametric data inputs used for window – damage indicator . 4.1.4 Correction factors . 4.1.5 Data validation/control process . 4.1.6 Conclusion .	57 59 62 63 65 65 65 67
4.2	District heating risk indicator 4.2.1 Literature review 4.2.2 Damage determination 4.2.3 Conclusion	68 68 69 71
5	DATA MANAGEMENT IN WP2	73
6	CONCLUSION	74
BIB	LIOGRAPHY	75





List of figures

Figure 1. Potential risk on energy use from reported underlying causes assessed based on	l
general consensus in the literature	14
Figure 2. Occurrence Frequency of Quality Failures in percentage	14
Figure 3. FMEA application in the failure analysis of an energy renovation measure:	
insulation of external wall	16
Figure 4. Analytic Hierarchy Process application in building sector for risk probability	
determination	17
Figure 5. EEnvest Platform Information flow and calculation method of technical risk of	
FEnvest platform	18
Figure 6. Overview of Technical risk process assessment in EEnvest platform	19
Figure 7 EEnvest technical risk assessment approach	10
Figure 8. EEnvest methodology to determine technical risks of a single energy repoyation	10
mossuro	20
Figure 0. Technical risks calculation form data inputs to the financial indicators	20
Figure 9. Technical fisks calculation – form data inputs to the financial mulciators	21
Figure 10. EEnvest top down approach to determine the technical fisks database and the	~~
	22
Figure 11. Technical risks indicators: energy gap and damage, as % of the investment	23
Figure 12. Energy performance gap assessment process	25
Figure 13. Damages assessment process	25
Figure 14. Type of correction factors	27
Figure 15. Organization of technical risk assessment.	30
Figure 16. How to read the datasheet information	32
Figure 17. Roof risk probability breakdown definition	33
Figure 18. Floor risk probability breakdown definition	34
Figure 19. Wall risk probability breakdown definition: overviews solutions (1/4)	35
Figure 20 External wall risk probability breakdown definition; external cladding, ventilated	
facade with external cladding (2/4)	36
Figure 21. External wall risk probability breakdown definition: external cladding ventilated	
facade with external cladding (3/4)	37
Figure 22 External wall risk probability breakdown definition: external cladding, ventilated	01
facade with external cladding $(4/4)$	38
Figure 23 Window risk probability breakdown definition	30
Figure 24. Shading system risk probability breakdown definition	10
Figure 25. External Door rick probability breakdown definition	40
Figure 25. External Door fisk probability breakdown definition	41
Figure 26. Other elements risk probability breakdown definition	42
Figure 27. Heat pump risk probability breakdown definition	43
Figure 28 District heating risk probability breakdown definition	44
Figure 29 Gas boilers risk probability breakdown definition	45
Figure 30 Biomass boilers risk probability breakdown definition	46
Figure 31 Emission system risk probability breakdown definition	47
Figure 32 Distribution system risk probability breakdown definition	48
Figure 33 Cooling system risk probability breakdown definition	49
Figure 34 Mechanical ventilation risk probability breakdown definition	50
Figure 35 Electric system risk probability breakdown definition	51
Figure 36 Literature reviews topics to identify the parameters that affects the cause-effects	
technical risks	53
Figure 37 Building service faults structure	54
Figure 38 template for the interviews	55
Figure 39. Windows - breakdown approach	57
Figure 40. Window breakdown template: datasheet for FEnvest technical risk database	58
Figure 41 Example of window breakdown template with in blue colour the data values	20
collected during an interview on energy performance gap and damage indicator	60
consister during an interview on energy performance gap and damage indicator.	00





Figure 42. Window breakdown datasheet (1/4)- air infiltration occurrence - generated a the interviews.	after 61
Figure 43 Window breakdown datasheet (2/4)- thermal bridge occurrence - generated	after
Figure 44 Window breakdown datasheet (3/4)- glass breakages - generated after the	01
interviews	62
Figure 45 Window breakdown datasheet (4/4)- automatic control system failure- gener	ated
after the interviews.	62
Figure 46. Windows risk probability breakdown definition template	63
Figure 47. Example of data used in PHPP tool to define the air infiltration impact	64
Figure 48 Example of data used in PHPP tool to define the thermal bridge impact	65
Figure 49. Excel datasheet with comparison results for air infiltration impact	66
Figure 50. Results of the data validation for the air infiltration impact on windows	66
Figure 51. Windows datasheet of EEnvest technical risks database	67
Figure 52. District heating breakdown technical risk structure template: probability and	impact
	68
Figure 53 Probability and impact definition for district heating	70
Figure 54. Parametric study efficiency impact on PER.	71
Figure 55. Conclusion: damages of district heating	72

List of tables

Table T Summary of key studies quantifying performance gap.	13
Table 2. Boundary condition to supply the correction factors	28
Table 3. District heating common faults	69

List of abbreviations and acronyms

This list must be as short as possible as abbreviations and acronyms hamper an easy understanding of deliverables by reviewers.

EE	Energy Efficiency
RES	Renewable energy source
LCC	Life Cycle Cost
ROI	Return on investment
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning
MC	Monte Carlo calculation
S/V	Compact building shape (Surface / Volume)
WWR	Window-wall ratio

Common language	ISO/Guide 73:2009- ISO 31000:2018
Consequence	Outcome of an event (2.17) affecting objectives [1]
Consequence	Outcome of an event (3.5.1.3) affecting objectives [1]
Exposure	Extent to which an organization and/or stakeholder is subject to an event





Level of risk	Magnitude of a risk (2.1) or combination of risks, expressed in terms of the combination of consequences (2.18) and their likelihood [1]
Probability	measure of the chance of occurrence expressed as a number between 0 and 1, where 0 is impossibility and 1 is absolute certainty
Risk	Effect of uncertainty on objectives. An effect is a deviation from the expected — positive and/or negative. Risk is often expressed in terms of a combination of the consequences of an event (including changes in circumstances) and the associated likelihood (probability) of occurrence.
Risk evaluation	Process of comparing the results of risk analysis (2.21) with risk criteria (2.22) to determine whether the risk (2.1) and/or its magnitude is acceptable or tolerable. [1]
Risk analysis	Process to comprehend the nature of risk (2.1) and to determine the level of risk (2.23).[1]
Risk identification	Process of finding, recognizing, and describing risks
Vulnerability	Intrinsic properties of something resulting in susceptibility to a risk source (3.5.1.2) that can lead to an event with a consequence. [1]
HDD	Heating Degree Day





INTRODUCTION

EEnvest -Risk reduction for building energy efficiency investments - project aims to develop, a web-based investment evaluation platform for building owners and private investors, which validates the investment security level of an energy renovation project for commercial building, through a solid and structured assessment method. EEnvest web-based investment platform will determine different risk levels analysing a series of economic indicators coming from technical and financial risks evaluation models.

The level of guarantee of the investment will be evaluated through eight economic indicators, divided between technical (energy gap and damage from WP2), economic (payback time, maturity, internal rate of return, net present value on investment and debt-service coverage ratio from WP3) and multi-benefit group (increase market value, environmental, thermal comfort and health from WP4), among them two are specific for the technical risk assessment of the renovation projects and have been elaborated within WP2. The first one is the energy gap, defined as energy performance deviation between planned and measured energy consumption, and the second one is the building damage, defined as possible inconvenience due to component malfunctioning, failures or breakages.

WP2 aims at assessing technical risks connected to the renovation processes of commercial buildings, from the definition of indicators to their impacts, developing a tailored calculation methodology. This calculation methodology, implemented in the EEnvest web-platform based on input data of a specific renovation project, will determine the impacts of different economic indicators (outputs), in terms of energy gap and damages. It calibrates the building data (inputs) with the probability trend of the technical risks collected in the database and fine-tune the indicators impact range (output), integrating also correction factors (as climate conditions, building shape, etc.). Part of the above are also considered as mitigation measures and will be more thoroughly performed in the D2.2.

Technical risk calculation method, as presented in D2.1, will be included in financial risk modelling evaluation (WP3) and later implemented in the EEnvest web-platform, developed in WP5.





EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents part of the work under WP2 - Technical risk evaluation framework.

WP2 objective is to identify the technical risks of energy renovation of commercial office buildings projects, based on the indicators and their impact to the benefits and mitigation measures. As the project aims at maximizing replicability with an eye on residential buildings, all possible renovation measures are taken into account, even when they do not apply specifically to commercial office buildings.

Chapter 1 focuses on technical risk in the building sector, from the definition to the identification process used for the determination of the economic indicators. Two indicators are chosen to describe the impact on the investment, as a consequence of possible occurrences connected to the energy renovation process and the implemented solutions: (i) the energy performance gap, defined as the missed energy performance compared to project estimation, and (ii) the damage, defined as problem caused by a breakage, a deterioration or a malfunction.

Chapter 2 presents an overview of EEnvest technical risks assessment, and the data flow of the calculation process, from the inputs to the outputs. The technical risk calculation method is described for both indicators (energy performance gap and damage), starting from a technical risk probabilistic data distribution collected in the EEnvest technical risk database. Through a complex iteration process with well-known inputs, the economic deviation of each indicator can be determined case by case, as percentage of the investment. Their variability depends on several issues, as renovation building project (such as solution set scenario), boundary conditions (such as building site, climate rigidity) or other external parameters identified and scheduled in the EEnvest technical risk database as correction factors. These factors run in the technical risk calculation, modifying the indicators impact. Part of them, together with the risk alerts, which are specific risk-bearing circumstances, are deeply investigated in WP2, and will be converted in mitigation measures and suggestions for the users (further details on these results will be presented in D2.2).

Chapter 3 presents an overview on EEnvest technical risk database, focusing on:

- (i) The classification process of technical risks through a breakdown process, from building macro areas (envelope and technical systems) to building elements, energy renovation measures, and related possible negative occurrences.
- (ii) The quantification of technical risk indicators for each occurrence, identified as a percentage of investments. Technical risk is identified by a probabilistic data trend distribution (defined through impact and probability).

EEnvest technical risk database collects data coming from literature, real experiences (expert interviews) and parametric energy simulations.

Furthermore, in chapter 4 it is reported an application of the data process development used for the identification of the probabilistic trend impact for both indicators, energy gap and damage in two different building elements (envelope and building system).

The methodology presented in this report will be replicated for all passive and active buildings elements, providing:

• WP3 with relevant input to elaborate the financial risk model





- WP4 with a set of renovation measures for which to determine the impact of multi-benefits on commercial asset value
- WP5 with relevant input on which to ground the EEnvest platform design.





1 TECHNICAL RISK ANALYSIS

1.1 DEFINITION

The International Organization for Standardization publication ISO 31000 (2009) / ISO Guide 73:2002 defines the risk as the 'effect of uncertainty on objectives'. In this definition, uncertainties include events caused by ambiguity or a lack of information. The events could have both negative and positive impacts on the objectives. Many definitions of risk exist in common usage, but the consortium decided to rely on this definition that was developed by an international committee representing over 30 countries and is based on the input of several thousand subject matter experts. [2]

Within EEnvest a technical risk is considered as "an exposure to loss arising from activities such as design and engineering, manufacturing, technological processes and test procedures" [3]. This definition is based on a deep analysis of literature and results coming from field experiences, as well as knowledge of technical experts involved in the process.

The formula adopted to calculate the risk is:

Risk = Probability * Consequence (Impact)

Where "*probability*" is the frequency of an event occurrence, times the "*consequence*" of this event, considered as the outcome of an event with a negative or a positive impact [4].

1.2 TECHNICAL RISKS IN EENVEST PROJECT

Related to the building sector, in particular during the renovation process, a technical risk is the probability or threat of damage or any other negative (or positive) occurrence (thermal bridge, air or water infiltration, failure, malfunctioning, breakages, etc.) at the building components (implementation of energy measures to the architectural elements of the building envelope, HVAC systems or RES systems) caused by different reasons in different moments, such as errors in design, project, calculation, installation, construction, or management phase.

In a building renovation project, the technical risks negatively affect the economic trend of the investment, producing some deviation from what expected in the business plan. These differences can depend on several factors (errors or breakages) and occurred in different phase of the renovation project (mistakes in the design phase, installation, or operation phase).

Starting from these considerations, within technical risk analysis the main result was the identification of the two economic indicators for the technical risks of renovation process of commercial buildings, such as (i) the energy performance gap and (ii) the damage, both strictly connected at the decision-making choices, with a directly influence in the economic investment.

It is important to remember that in EEnvest the technical risk definition refers to the occurrences that happen occasionally (such as extraordinary maintenance), while all the costs related to ordinary maintenance programs are excluded, since they should be already considered in the life cycle cost analysis of each renovation measure. EEnvest technical risks, here identified, come from possible errors made in the construction or operation phase, but it is supposed that each solution set does not have associated technical risk (being covered by constructor warranty).





1.2.1 TECHNICAL RISKS IN BUILDING SECTOR

The technical risks analysis connected to the buildings sector includes a wide number of different topics, issues and parameters involved, each one with a very high-level of complexity, from the building physics to the statistic risks calculation methods, passing from the design, construction, and operation issues.

One of the most complex and common occurrences found in the technical risks analysis is the energy performance deviation between predicted and real measurement of energy consumption. Energy gap is a very common and important topic analysed in numerous articles, from different points of view. It can depend on several issues due to (i) changes between design, construction, and operation phase, or (ii) difference between data sets of the calculation phase (planning, modelling) and real building use in terms of working hours, n. persons, lighting condition, temperature, etc. or (iii) external condition, as climate (temperature, solar radiation, humidity, wind...) or (iv) difference between building code requirements and final use/implementation. Table 1 reports a series of energy performance gap studies where the above is defined as "the difference between predicted and actual/measured building energy consumption ... for a large group of buildings" [5].

Study	Number and type of buildings	Measured performance gap	Summary/issues
Frankel & Turner 2008: How Accurate is Energy Modeling?	90 buildings that have achieved a LEEDarating	Around 8% Energy Use Intensity (EUI) difference for all of the buildings	The review included both buildings that achieved LEED ratings with normal expected uses, but also some high energy intensity buildings. The overall average measured EUI was close to predicted, though varied quite widely, and the high energy use buildings (laboratories, data centers and health care) consumed nearly two-and-a-half times the predicted energy.
Carbon Trust 2011: Closing the Gap	28 buildings from the UK DECCb Low Carbon Buildings Programme	Average gap was about 16% higher operational energy consumption than predicted performance	The average gap among the 28 low carbon demonstration buildings (covering many sectors, including retail, education, offices and mixed-use buildings) was 16%, though 75% of designs did not perform as well as expected, and in one building, operational energy use was five times the modeled estimate.
Green Building Council of Australia(GBCA) 2013: Achieving the Green Dream: Predicted vs Actual	70 Green Star office buildings with valid NABERSc Energy Certificates	About 25% gap (finding that around 75% of modeled energy savings are achieved in practice)	As analyzed and reported in ABCB 2018, the relationship between predicted and actual GHG emissions is weak, and there are several outlier buildings where actual emissions are significantly higher than predicted. When the outliers are eliminated, the analysis found around 75% of modeled energy savings were achieved in practice. The original GBCA study stated that 57% of Green Star certified office buildings achieved their modeled GHG performance
Innovate UK Building Performance Evaluation Programme (2016)	48 projects with 56 "leading edge" nondomestic buildings	Average carbon emissions 3.8 times higher than predicted	Only one building performed similar to predictions, and the remaining buildings produced emissions between 1.8 and 10 times the predicted levels. However, predicted emissions only included "regulated loads," including heating, cooling, ventilation and lighting, and did not include other energy uses that would need to be used in any building.
van Dronkelaar et. al. Review of Non- Domestic Buildings Performance Gap (2016)	62 non-domestic buildings, as detailed in a variety of technical sources	Gap between predicted and measured energy use deviates by 34%	The buildings reviewed consisted mostly of offices, schools, and multipurpose buildings. Schools were identified to have a larger gap (37% more energy per one study, and higher in others), while offices were found to be more variable, but a smaller gap (22% higher than predicted, but greater standard deviation than schools).
CarbonBuzz (ongoing, started in 2012)d	About 60 buildings, mostly schools, general offices, and university campuses	Found that on average, buildings consume between 1.5 and 2.5 times their predicted energy use	CarbonBuzz is a joint initiative between the Royal Institute of British Architects, the Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineers (CIBSE) and other industry partners intended to provide a platform to benchmark and track project energy use from design to operation. Detailed case studies are published on the platform.
Sidewalk Labs Toronto Multi-Unit Residential Building Study (2019)	19 recently constructed multifamily buildings in Toronto	Buildings use 13% more energy than predicted by modeling	The study compared metered energy use intensity against calibrated energy models to understand performance gap. The performance gap for certain end uses was much higher than other (space heating having the biggest absolute difference).

Table 1 Summary of key studies quantifying performance gap. [5]

In some energy performance gap investigations, the analysis process used to determinate the technical risks follow a decomposition of the topic based on "project phases" as showed is Figure 1, or in other case on "building elements", as Figure 2.





	Underlying cause	Evidence from literature*	Rated impact on energy use	Estimated quantitative effect on energy use	Compliance modeling related
Context	Energy performance target	Low	High		Yes
	Impact of early design decisions	Medium	High		
	Complexity of design	Low	Medium		
Nodel	Specification (geometry, material, equipment)	High	High	20-60%	Yes
	Modeling (simplification)	Medium	Medium	<10%	Yes
	Numerical (discretization)	Low	Low	<5%	
	Scenario (weather, schedule, operation)	High	Medium	10-30%	Yes
	Heuristic (user)	Low	High	<70%	
	Inter-model variability	Medium	Medium	5-40%	
Construction	On-site workmanship	Medium	Low		
	Changes after design	Low	Low		
Commissioning	Poor commissioning	Medium	Medium	<20%	
Operation	Poor practice in operation	High	High	1580%	
	Occupant behavior	High	High	10-80%	
	Degradation of system and materials	Low	Low	<10%	
	Measurement system limitation	Low	Low	<10%	
	Energy use variability in operation	Low	Medium	5-15%	

the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). Figure 1. Potential risk on energy use from reported underlying causes assessed

based on general consensus in the literature. Source: [6]

Technology		Ouglity Follows	The	Percentag	e of Responde	nts on Li	nguistic Variab	les
Measurements	N	o. Quality Failures	Very High	High	Moderate	Low	Very Low	Total
	T.	1 Incorrect installation of the steel nails	3.0	14.0	29.0	42.0	12.0	100.0
Door and window (D) — r	2 Incorrect size of new window frame and door frame	5.0	30.0	18.0	25.0	22.0	100.0
	_ r	3 Misalignment between the new doors and windows and the wall	1.0	10.0	27.0	36.0	26.0	100.0
	r	4 Untreated wall around the new windows	8.0	12.0	21.0	37.0	22.0	100.0
	- F	1 Missing vapor barriers	3.0	10.0	24.0	27.0	36.0	100.0
	- F	2 Non-specified fire resistance of EPS boards	8.0	11.0	29.0	27.0	25.0	100.0
P (7)	ŀ	3 Non-specified volume-weight and thickness of EPS boards	7.0	12.0	16.0	40.0	25.0	100.0
KOOT (K)	- F	4 Adhesive area problems	4.0	12.0	25.0	27.0	32.0	100.0
	- F	5 Detachment between the different EPS boards	4.0	13.0	32.0	29.0	22.0	100.0
	- F	6 Cracks of the roof levelling blanket	10.0	8.0	27.0	28.0	27.0	100.0
	- F	7 Detachment of roof waterproof layer	3.0	9.0	28.0	42.0	18.0	100.0
		8 Misalignment of roof waterproof layer	5.0	25.0	25.0	22.0	23.0	100.0
	F	9 Cracks of roof concrete	4.0	18.0	28.0	27.0	23.0	100.0
	_ I	1 Uncleaned wall	3.0	15.0	34.0	32.0	16.0	100.0
	_ 1	2 Missing interface treating mortar	5.0	21.0	26.0	30.0	18.0	100.0
	_ I	3 Unacceptable levelness of the control wire	2.0	12.0	24.0	35.0	27.0	100.0
	_ 1	4 Non-specified fire resistance of EPS boards	7.0	10.0	25.0	32.0	26.0	100.0
Enternal Intell (E)	1	5 Non-specified volume-weight and thickness of EPS boards	4.0	14.0	20.0	34.0	28.0	100.0
External wall (E)		6 Adhesive area problems	4.0	9.0	23.0	37.0	27.0	100.0
	I	7 Detachment between the different EPS boards	4.0	10.0	29.0	34.0	23.0	100.0
	1	8 Missing rivets	5.0	10.0	34.0	31.0	20.0	100.0
	I	9 Non-specified rivets	5.0	12.0	20.0	38.0	25.0	100.0
	E	0 Incorrect drilling	4.0	10.0	25.0	39.0	22.0	100.0
	E	1 Non-specified anti-crack mortar	4.0	14.0	21.0	39.0	22.0	100.0
	E	 Non-specified pylon pet 	7.0	11.0	18.0	38.0	26.0	100.0

Figure 2. Occurrence Frequency of Quality Failures in percentage. [7]

This kind of analysis takes shape from the investigation method developed to evaluate failure risks in engineering sector, as Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA). FMEA is a structured systematic procedures approach to identify the reliability, the safety and quality of specific components. It permits to classify and weigh hypothetic cause - effects occurrences for different project phases (design, process, construction). FMEA analysis supports the final quality, determining prevention measures, right managing procedures and higher efficiency levels [8]. FMEA method describes the failure considering three range of variable factors, probability occurrence (O), severity effect (S) and detection (D). When applied in building





sector it results very complex due to the large number of elements, parameters, and multicriteria possibilities of data and its variability [9]. In WP2 the FMEA method has been tested on an energy renovation measure, insulation of an external wall. The result obtained confirms the high difficulty level of implementation of such method in the analysis of the failure in buildings. FMEA in building components has an excessive level of complexity, due to the high number of running parameters and value (O,S,D), which are often difficult to determine (Figure 3.). From FMEA approach, EEnvest project takes two aspects: the failure concept, as one indicator of the technical risk, later called damage, and the systematic approach integrated in the technical risk evaluation process. Thanks to the latter, technical problems are been classified through a decomposition process of the building in elements, energy renovation measures, and related occurrences, with the aim of identifying unique effects (impacts-probability).

Subsequently, the identification of the impact and probability of each occurrence has been addressed. The missing data on this topic were very frequent. We investigated possible approaches to gather these data, as the Analytic Hierarchy Process [10]. It is a qualitative decision-making approach, which permits to quantify some issues, in our case technical risks frequency, through a risk score obtained from several opinions of experts in building construction sector, and to classify the level of probability, addressing the best decision [11]. Within WP2 it was used to compare technical risk frequency of different energy renovation measures and related occurrences. In the testing phase, the Analytic Hierarchy Process resulted very complex to be implemented in the interviews with technical experts, due to the high number of comparisons required (Figure 4).

At the end of these considerations, the expert's involvement was considered a necessary step to finalize data collection of technical risk impact and probability for each occurrence.







Potential effects of	1			Normal project			A construction of the second		Revised	Rankings	
failure	seventy	Potential causes of failure	occurrence	inspections	Detection	RPN	Recommended actions	Severity	Occurrence	Detection	RPN
continuous deterioration of the system (reduction of thermo-hygrometric properties, formation of		Install ation error or lack of reinforcement mesh at the corners (e.g., windows and doors)	8	Supervision of the works	4	224			2	3	42
mould and humidity)		Non-use of self-expanding tapes at the junction points (voltage damping function)	6	installation	4	168			2	3	42
		Improper reinforcement mesh (non-alkaline)	8	Materials check (CEmarking)	1	56	Appropriate choice of the		2	1	14

				_						Potentia	l effects of				Normal project					Revised	Rankings	
		ltem		Fi	unction			ailur	re	fa	ilure	Severity	Potential causes of failure	Occurrence	inspections	Detection	RPN	Recommended actions	Severity	Occurrence	Detection	RPN
-	EXTERN	NAL INSU	JLATION	Therma insulatior Thermo wellbeing	l and ac n of the ohygron guaran	coustic facade. netric teed for	Ci	rackir	ng	continuous of the syste of thermo properties	deterioration em (reduction -hygrometric , formation of		Installation error or lack of reinforcement mesh at the corners (e.g., windows and doors)	8	Supervision of the works	4	224			2	3	42
progres of the af the proper main				up to mor	e than	25 years				mould ar	ıd humidity)		Non-use of self-expanding tapes at the junction points (voltage damping function)	6	installation	4	168			2	3	42
													Improper reinforcement mes (non-alkaline)	8	Materials check (CE marking)	1	56	Appropriate choice of the		2	1	14
Progres of the of the proper moul												7	Bad storage of materials in areas unprotected from the weather	3	Checking the correct storage of materials	1	21	(company): verification of regularity, organization, qualifications, experience	7	2	1	14
			Error in the choice of	finsulation	4 M	aterials check	1	28	qualifications, e	xperience	1 1	8										
Dista	cco totale del sistema	10	Error in adhesive a	nd dawel	3 Su	pervision of the works	4	120	in the field and of the quality of labou		S	CALA DI SEVER	RITY	S	CALA DI OCCURF	RENCE			SCALA DI DE	TECTION		
(l'aria po	enetra al l'interno			eyeneu)	i Su	install ation	4	120	Use of det	10	Wa	rning without	advance notice	10			-1-)	10	Not	tdetectable		
Rapid	io degrado del	8	Installation of the layer on wet	nsulation wall	7 t	he last wall layer	5	280	the temperar humidity of	9	V	/arning with a	dvance notice	9	very frequent la	uits (very nig	su)	9 Ve	ry remote p	robability of	detection	
	Jucino		Errors in the design the ground node waterproof sh	(lack of eath)	8		4	256		8		Loss of prima	ry function	8				8	Remote de	tection prob	ability	
			Failure position baseline pro	n the file	8		4	320		7	Re	eduction of pri	mary function	7	Frequent fa	ults (High)		7 V	ery low pro	bability of c	letection	
			penetrates too much covered with as	and is not	6 (h	edvingof the	4	320	Appropriate ch building con	6		Loss of second	lary function	6				6	Low proba	bility of det	ection	
			generated thick Incorrect position	ning of	7 ani	details	4	240	regularity, org qualifications, e	5	Red	duction of seco	ondary function	5	Occasional failu	res (Moderat	e)	5 N	Noderate pro	obability of (detection	
Perdita	qualità esteti che		Leakages between insulation pa	the filled nels	8 i	during installation	4	280	of the quality of labou	4	Minorde	fects identifie	d by many customers	4			F	4 Mod	erately good	l probability	of detection	n
conseg della	e uente riduzione idurabilità del	6	polyurethane Inappropriate use	foam tofsoft		-				3	Minorde	fects identifie	d by some customers	3				3	Good prob	ability of de	tection	
	sistema		mechanical stre Wrong design of c	rip trays	7		4	240		2	Minorde	fects identifie	d by a few customers	2	Few failu	res (Low)	-	2	High proba	ability of det	ection	
			Imprecision in cutt (non-use of the rm	ngpanels al break}	8		4	320	the flot cutting ((much more)	1		No.of	fort	1	Vonurara fau	Ite (Pomoto)		1	Cortain	ty of dotoct	ion	

Figure 3. FMEA application in the failure analysis of an energy renovation measure: insulation of external wall

Figure 3 reports the application of the FMEA at an energy renovation measure external insulation of the wall. There are listed (i) several failures, effects with a level of severity, (ii) potential causes with the relative level of occurrences, (iii) the detection occurrences level. Risk Priority Number (RPN) identifies in number the risk priority level of a failure mode. It is calculated by multiplying Severity (S), Occurrence (O), and Detection (D). Through recommendation action (highlighted in rose colour) the RPN should be reduced.







		RENOVATION MEASURES TECHNICAL REKS DEPINTION																										_	_										
		hyour opinion, what is the most request technical problem?																															-						
		The one that occurs the most?		Archite Archite	chille Archille Ar dh	ite Archite Archite	a Archite Arch	NB Archib Ar	rchite /v chite	ArchiteArchite	Archite Archite	to Archite Archite	e le chie le chie	Archite Archite	Archite Archit	Archite Ari	nto/vento	ArchiteArd	ste Archite Ar	rchite Archi	te Archte	ArchiteAn	nh HVAC	HVACIH	VACIN	AC HVAC	HV/CH	ACHVAC	HVACIHV	ACHWACH	NACHNAC	HUACHNA	CHVAC	NACINAL	PHVACEL	ghtngBuildingBuil	INCRES RES RE	s nes ne	5 R65
aticipant country:				Bat Bat	I Bat Bath	e Ptche Ptrim	Phote																certral	central	antral cov	tal contra	certra v	20				in the second	nical	ical nicel	rical	ct			
				root root	of root droo	to not a root	d rod Rod	at Mai W	kal wa	Weil Weil	Wal Wal	Weil Weil	wa wa	Wall Wall	Floor Floor	Roor We	tion White	Windor Wind	lar Windar Wi	Indov Shadi	in Shatin	StadingSh	ide ized	ized iz	od izo	i ized	200 0	Ostri	Distrib. Dis	rbu Entsside	hissid Brissi	Entrais Syst	e ventia	antia ventia	a ventia la	Cantro Mon	trPV PV PV	PV PV	PV .
andre a dia da			Hards Marker					COLUMN DA									-		-	-	-		toria.	bastin b	notin inco	to posto	-	-			_	-	tion 1	-	500 0		+ $+$ $+$	+	
to ng chana.		1	Hoher	E6om E6om	tom Extern Exter	m Extern Extern	Edom Inter	rna ai ai	- a -)	ted ted I	ted ted	4 4	bricate bricate	bricate bricate	L L .	on of am	ert oriert	oment eme	tt Solar at	to goat	. a	a	nsing	csim d											1 1				
		0	Equal	al al	a a	ম ম	al I	claddi da	add dadd	taçad taçad t	taçad taçad	d insulati insulat	ta a	a d	Insulat Insula	stno of	đ	to to	control CO	ontrol g	shadh	shadh Bo	ar boler	baler.	ourc Ho	t p. Hott p	District	its) hsua	Now d No	v di Radiad	adan Ratian	Ration	Central	artral Decer	Decert	inea Smea Sm	PV mod PV mod PV	mod PV mod PV	mod PV mod
		-1	Lover	insues insues		a muainua	on lon	Groute Go			owen owen	n on on		açao raçao	the the	Soor In	100 W 100	winso win	films of	syste	2		to with	กสมาย	near I			1				osta	۴ I		1 1				
		-2	Mchlover	on on			0	500 50	n in	al al	al al	500 500	and man	Upped a Close da		2000 000	an outo	en in	a	m name	19.00		-	925		_					_								
	margy ra	renoval on measures	type or service proteins or the components	4.7	norm Water Mr	Derm	Mater	Ar an	NO WARY	Ar ann	Them Vibler	Toma Tom	and Ar	Mater I	al Trem	Dom H	Dam	GRASS AT	Matun	Oveh	10 AF	bern			antin .	0.00				CODID		contro.			1 1		ann	and a	
				Infiltrat Overh	infibrat infibr	at Overh al	Infitrat con	do infitrat (as	is efficiat	rfitrat (as	al infibrat	at conde al	(as infilmat	rfitrat conde	bridge al	4 111	trat d	breaks infilt	ut ction, Ma	titun ating.	interat	4	Faluro	Faire	cod He	t punes	Maturia	sel Thorn	Demap De	nap the	to the	the Math	un Airinte	bise is Air Inf	TRNDiso Id M	aron Maron Mar	in (as Shade Ov	n (45 Sh	ede Oreth
				ion earng	ldge ion ion	paing pridge	ion nsat	utio ion de	stario ion	on debrio	bridge ion	nsatio bridge	distario ion	on nsatio	(of bridge	tridge ion	bridge	go lon	BLOOK CE	ton gare	ion	bridge COI	°	0	9	hait				hastin	dant radiant	radiant			1 1		daterio losses est	ng detario ^{cos}	sas asing
							n	12	ation	ration		n	ration	n	axistin				- año					P	ubor	dent				9 1	oor foor	floor					ration	ration	
rchitectural component	Flatroof	External insulation	Air infibration																		1 1														1 1				
rchitectural component	Flatroof	External insulation	Overheating																																				
theory of the formation of the	Detroit	Edendimution	Thermal Index	_		+ + -							+ + -			+ +	-			_	+ +	-	-		-	-		-		+ +	_		+ +	_	+ +			++	
chartener component	- Million		internet a tape	_		+ + -	+									+ +					-	-	-		-	-		-			_		+ +	_	+ +			+ +	
	-			_																_			_		_	_	$ \rightarrow $							_	+			+	
chitectural component	Pliched roof	External insulation	Air infibration	_																																			
chitectural component	Pliched roof	External insulation	Overheating																		1 1														1 1				
chitectural component	Plichod roof	External insulation	Thermal bridge	_																																			
chitectural component	Pitched roof	External insulation	Water infitration	_																																			
timent of the factor	Prof.	Internal los dation	Internal conductation	_			_					+ + -							+	-	+ +	-	-		-	-	+	-		+ +	-		+ +	-	+ +	++		+ +	
concerner component	1000	a second s	a sea case dan beendar	_								+				+			+	_	-	-	-		-	-	\rightarrow	-		+	-		+ +	_	+ +		+ $+$ $+$		
chitectural component	Wal	External cladding (insulation, glue and plaster)	Air infiltration																																				
chitectural component	Wal	External cladding (insulation, glue and plaster)	Broskage (as deterioration or detachment)																						T														
chitectural component	Wal	External cladding (insulation, glue and plaster)	Water infitration	_																																			
white the incomponent	Wei	vertisate topoole with external chattering (insulation,	Air infiltration	_								+ + -							+ +		1	-			-	-		-		-			1	-					
		Protectional Factories and Protection and Protectional		_								+ +							+ +	-	+ +	-	-		-	-	\rightarrow	-		+	-	++-	+	-	+	++		+	
critectural component	wal	echering, full-carvaters, and asternal faciale stadting	Brookage (as deterioration or detachment)	_						l										_			_			-		-			_			_					
chitectural component	Wal	received report monetarine capany probation,	Thermal bridge									1 1				1 1					1																		
chtectural component	Wal																																						
riticatural commonant	Wal							(A				TEOL		DIOL	-		1011																						
charge and component	TTEN .					RE	-NOV	/A IIC	DN M	EASU	IRES	TECH	NICAL	RISK	SDE	FINH	ION																						
chilocitural component	Wal																															_			_			_	_
chitectural component	Wat					In vo		ninior	n wh	natie t	the m	met fr		t tock	nnica	l pro	hlom	12																					
chitectural component	Wal					ill y C	ui o	pinioi	1, W I	iat is	uie ii	iost ii	eque	it teci	inica	più	Dielli															Arc	hito	Arel	hital	Archite	Archite	Arel	hito
chilectural component	Wat								The		that a		a than r	+2																		AIC	mile	AICI	nite	Archite	Archite	AICI	nite
	1000								ine	one	inal c	occurs	smer	iost?																									
chaocana component	Visa																															-							
rchtectural component	Floor	Participant country:																																					
rchitectural component	Floor																															Flat		Flat		Flat	Flat	Pitch	1e
rchitectural component	Floor																																•		Ľ		1.100		
																																	-			-	1	A	-5
CONTRACT AND CONTRACTORS.																																roo	f I	root		roof			
entectural component	Venco																															roo	f	root	·	roof	1001	laio	01
critectural component	Windo																															roo	f	root	·	roof	1001		0
chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component	Windo Windo																															roo	f	root		roof	1001	410	01
chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component	Windo Windo Windo	Scoring criteria:										2							Much	n hia	her											roo	f	root		roof		aro	
chiloctural component chiloctural component chiloctural component chiloctural component chiloctural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo	Scoring criteria:										2							Much	n hig	her											roo Ext	of ern	root Exte	ern	roof Extern	Extern	Exte	ern
chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo	Scoring criteria:										2							Much Highe	hig r	her											roo Ext	ern	root Exte	ern	roof Extern	Extern	Exte	ern
chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo	Scoring criteria:										2 1							Much High∈	hig ər	her											roo Ext	ern	Exte	ern	roof Extern	Extern	Exte	ern
chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component chitectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadr	Scoring criteria:										2 1							Much Highe	hig ər	her											roo Ext al	ern	Exte	ern I	roof Extern al	Extern al	Exte al	ern
critectural component critectural component critectural component critectural component critectural component critectural component critectural component critectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadr Shadr	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0							Much Highe Equal	hig er	her											Ext al	ern	Exte	ern	roof Extern al	Extern al	Exte al	ern
chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component chlectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0							Much Highe Equal	hig er I	her											Ext al insu	ern ulati	Exte al insu	ern I lati i	roof Extern al insulat	Extern al insulat	Exte al insu	ern Ilati
critectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component chilectural component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0 -1							Much Highe Equal Low e	hig er I er	her											Ext al insu	ern ulati	Exte al insu	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat	Extern al insulat	Exte al insu	ern Ilati
create tail component create tail component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0 -1							Much Highe Equal Lowe	n hig er I er	her											Ext al insu on	ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on	Extern al insulat	Exte al insu on	ern Ilati
Interfacts any provent interfactual component interfactual component interfacts and component	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much	n hig er I er n Iow	her /er											Ext al inst on	ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on	Extern al insulat on	Exte al insu on	ern Ilati
Interchais component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Chieckunis component Ack system	Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:										2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much	n hig er I er n Iow	her ver											Ext al inst on	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on	Extern al insulat on	Exte al insu on	ern Ilati
Interchail component Chlackusi Component Chlac	Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	erav re	novati	ion m	reasu	Ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	hig er I er Now	her ver	nica		oble	ms	oft		ome	onei	nts		roo Ext al insu on	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern ati i	roof Extern al insulat on	Extern al insulat on	Exte al insu on	ern Ilati
Christellus compositet christellus compositet christ	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er I er n low	her / er	nica	ıl pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on	ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on	Extern al insulat on	Exte al insu on	ern Ilati
Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component Checkus component AC system AC system AC system AC system	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Naw c Deality Deality Deality	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	Ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er l er n low	her / er	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on	ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	Extern al insulat on Therm	Extern al insulat on	Exte al insu on	ern Iati
Constitution organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction organisme Construction	Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Windo Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi Shadi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Vluch Highe Equal Low e Vluch Type	hig er l of t	her / er ech	nica	l pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al inst on Air	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm	Extern al insulat on Water	Exte al insu on Air	ern Iati
Constitution of composite constraintic	Winss Winss Winss Winss Winss Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr Shedr	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ərgy re	novati	ion m	neasu	Ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er er n low	her / er æch	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on Air	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove	ern lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm	Extern al insulat on Water	Exte al insu on Air	ern Iati
Constitution of proposed construction of proposed Construction Constr	Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi Shudi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ərgy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er l er n low	her / er ech	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati Itrat	Exte al insu on Ove	ern I lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Constitution organomic Construction organomic Construction Construc	Winso Winso Winso Shad Shad Shad Shad Shad Shad Shad Shad	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er l er n low	her / er æch	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern l lati i erh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Constabiliti composint Constabiliti composint Constabili composint Constabili Constabi	Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Structure Within Structure	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ərgy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er I er n low	her / er ech	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al inst on Air infil ion	ern ulati Itrat	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern l lati i erh	Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Constitution of composite construction of composite Construction C	Winso Winso Winso Shudi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 -1 -2							Nuch Highe Equal Low e Nuch Type	n hig er l er n low of t	her / er :ech	nica	l pro	oble	ms	oft	1e c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern lati i erh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Constabilito Congranari Contectual congranari Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami Congranami	Winso Winso Winso Shudi	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires			2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er l er n low	her / er ech	nica	l pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	onei	nts		Ext al inst on Air infil ion	ern ulati Itrat	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern i lati i erh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
Circletter organisme Circletter or	Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Within Structure Within Structure Within Structure Structure	Scoring criteria:		Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	Ires			2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er l er n low	her / er ech	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	oft	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati Itrat	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern lati rh ng	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia conjunite Circlashia Conjunite Circlashia Conjunite Circlashia Conjunite Circlashia Ci	Within Within Within	Scoring criteria:	nt Pla	Ene	ərgy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires	n		2 1 0 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er n low of t	her / er ech	nica	II pro	bble	ms	of t	nec	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	f ern ulati Itrat	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern lati i erh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Corporate Circletta Circlet	Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Winso Shudi Shuit	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone	nt Ra	Ene	ergy re	novati	ion m	neasu	ires	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er n low of t	her / er ech	nica	il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al inst on Air infil ion	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern l lati i rh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt	ern Ilati
Constabilito Compositi Constabilito Constab	When When When When When Shull	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone	nt Re	En e	ərgy re	novati Ext	ion m	neasu	ires	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er I er n Iow of t	/ er :ech	nica	I pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	rh ng	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
Validati Karpanal Kalidati Kalidati Karpanal Kalidati Kal	2003 2003 2003 2003 2004 2004 2004 2004	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone	nt Fiz	En e at roof	ergy re	novati Ext	ion m	neasu Il insu	ures ulation	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type	n hig er I ler I low of t	her / er ech	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
resultar organomi ordauttar organomi or	2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Fle nt Fle	Ene at roof at roof	ərgy re	novati Ext	ion m terna	neasu Il insu	ures ulation	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in	n hig er 1 ler 1 low of t	her / er ech	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	f ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	Iati i Intri	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
Analuka organom Analuka organo	2003 2003 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004	Scoring criteria: Architectural component	nt Fiz	Ene at roof at roof	ergy re	novati Ext	ion m terna	neasu Il insu	ures	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in	n hig er 1 ler n low of t	her / er ech	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern I Iati i Ing	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
NacLad Corporet NacLad	20050 20000 200500	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Re nt Re	Ene at roof at roof	ərgy re	Ext Ext	ion m terna	neasu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation	n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in Overl	n hig er I er n low of t	her ver ech	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern ati rh ng	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
	70000 7000000	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Ra nt Ra nt Ra	Ene at roof at roof at roof	ergy re	Ext Ext	ion m terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation ulation	n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low & Much Type Air in Overl	n hig er I er n low of t filtra heat	her / er ech ting bride	nica	il pro	bble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati
	2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008	Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Aa nt Aa nt Aa	Ene at roof at roof at roof	ərgy re	Ext Ext Ext	ion m terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation ulation	n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in Overl	n hig er 1 low of t filtra heat	her ver ech ting bride	nica	Il pro	oble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	nrh	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
Analysis Acception	70000 7000000	Scoring criteria: Architectural componen Architectural componen Architectural componen	nt Fie nt Fie nt Fie	Ene at roof at roof	ergy re	Ext Ext	ion m terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation ulation ulation	n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low & Much Type Air in Overl	n hig er I er of t filtra heat	her / er ech ting bride	nica	Il pro	ble	ms	of t	ne c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	f ern ulati ttrat	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ern lati i rh ng	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
nakula konyonał nakula		Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Fie nt Fie nt Fie nt Fie	Ene at roof at roof at roof at roof	ərgy re	Ext Ext Ext Ext	ion m terna terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu Il insu	ulation ulation ulation	n n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in Overl Therr Wate	n hig er 1 low of t heat heat	her / er ech ting bride	nica n ge	Il pro	ble	ms	of t	nec	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil ion	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ilati i rh ng	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
NacLad organori NacLad Nachard NacLad Nachard Na		Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Aa nt Aa nt Aa nt Aa	Ene at roof at roof at roof at roof	ərgy re	Ext Ext Ext	ion m terna terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation ulation ulation	n n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low & Much Type Air in Overl Therr	n hig er l of t filtra heat mal l	her / er ech ting bride	nica n ge	Il pro	ble	ms	of t	ie c	omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati	Exte al insu on Ove eatir	ilati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	orn Ilati
And Link Groupsont And Li		Scoring criteria: Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone Architectural compone	nt Fla nt Fla nt Fla nt Fla	Ene at roof at roof at roof at roof	ergy re	Ext Ext Ext Ext	ion m terna terna terna	reasu Il insu Il insu Il insu	ures ulation ulation ulation	n n n		2 1 -1 -2							Much Highe Equal Low e Much Type Air in Overl Therr Wate	n hig er l er n low of t heat heat	her / er ech ting bride	nica 1 ge	il pro	bble	ms	of t		omp	oner	nts		Ext al insu on Air infil	ern ulati	Core eatir	lati i	roof Extern al insulat on Therm al bridge	Extern al insulat on Water infiltrat ion	Exte al insu on Air infilt ion	ern Ilati

Figure 4. Analytic Hierarchy Process application in building sector for risk probability determination.

Figure 4 shows how works Analytic Hierarchy Process applied in the building sector. This qualitative approach permits to identify, in this case, the frequency level of the occurrences, comparing two different technical risks.





2 EENVEST TECHNICAL RISKS ASSESSMENT

The main task of the WP2 of EEnvest project was the development of a strategy able to identify the technical risk of energy renovation in commercial buildings. This chapter focuses on EEnvest technical risk assessment. An overview on how the information flow for technical risk analysis runs in the EEnvest web-platform from the inputs to the outputs is shown in paragraph 2.1. Paragraph 2.2 reports the technical risk calculation methodology used within EEnvest web-platform, with a complete description of the technical risk data collected in the EEnvest technical risk database for two different envelope and building system component, as benchmark data value for energy gap and damage indicators, correction factors, and alerts.

2.1 OVERVIEW ON EENVEST WEB-PLATFORM TECHNICAL RISK CALCULATION METHOD

In this paragraph an overview on the technical risk calculation process through inputs outputs flow is illustrated. The data building inputs, inserted by the users, will be processed in the EEnvest web-platform, obtaining as a result, two outputs of technical risks indicators: the energy gap and the damage (Figure 5).



Figure 5. EEnvest Platform Information flow and calculation method of technical risk of EEnvest platform.

WP2 work was mainly focused on (i) development of a strategic method for calculation of technical risks of renovation of existing commercial buildings, and a related (ii) technical risk database, used to modify (resizing) the impact of the technical risks associated at each energy renovation measures

The technical risks calculation method, as planned in WP2 and approved by SINLOC (who is developing the financial model in WP3 and will use WP2 results as input for the model), permits to match several probability-impact data distributions of possible occurrences extracted from the data inputs of the building project. In EEnvest web-platform, the EEnvest technical risk database is uploaded (chapter 3.1), together with (i) several probabilistic impact data of possible occurrences and failures that can happen at the building elements and technical system, (ii) correction factors used to modulate the final cause-effect and (iii) alerts. The technical risk calculation process runs online on the EEnvest web-platform extracting from the EEnvest technical risk database, all the possible technical risk combinations, producing a technical risks probabilistic trend of impact and probability for both the indicators, energy gap deviation and damage.

An overview on technical risk calculation process in the EEnvest web-platform is reported in Figure 6. The inputs, inserted by users based on own renovation set scenario and building features, activate the risk calculation process, extracting the probabilistic impact of the occurrences of the energy renovation measures implemented from the EEnvest technical risk database (see M1 and M2 in Figure 6). The risk amount of energy gap and damage indicators are sized on building dimension and weighed in relation to the boundary conditions (correction factors). Final outputs of technical risk calculation process are determined through a mathematic combination, called *"probability mass function"* able to combine the investment





increases (deviation in energy gap and damage) and respective probabilities of occurrences caused by each single issue (see Annex I for further details).



Figure 6. Overview of Technical risk process assessment in EEnvest platform

2.2 METHODOLOGY USED FOR EENVEST TECHNICAL RISK ASSESSMENT

Within WP2, two technical risk calculation and assessment methods were tested, the Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA) and the Analytic Hierarchy Process (see chapter 3). Due to the limitations found in their implementation, and the high level of complexity of the building renovation topic, it has been decided to follow a different approach to determine the technical risks of the renovation of existing buildings. The novel approach built on purpose for the EEnvest project, consists of decomposing the process in actions, following a step by step process (Figure 7), from the identification of the buildings' elements and their problems, to the quantification of energy performance deviation costs as a percentage of the initial investment. These outputs will be the economic inputs parameters for EEnvest platform technical-economical evaluation (WP5).



Figure 7. EEnvest technical risk assessment approach.

The whole building was decomposed in macro areas, distinguishing between building envelope and technical systems, identified according to the nomenclature of the ISO 15686-5:2008: "Buildings and constructed assets — Service-life planning — Part 5: Life-cycle





costing". Consecutively, the energy renovation measures have been identified, and divided among building envelope, building services, RES, other installations, equipment, site and external works.

Successively, through a deep literature and expert based investigation, technical risks were analysed as negative occurrences (problem) connected to each energy renovation measure, that affect negatively business plan expectations (and the planned investment) and hinder the building renovation processes. Occurrences deemed to produce damages, as failures, malfunctioning, or breakage events and energy performance gap, are investigated and catalogued in WP2.

A wide work made was the organization of the EEnvest technical risk database, classification and cataloguing technical risk benchmark, with a probabilistic distribution between predicted and real trend found (in literature) or estimated (experts, energy simulation). For each renovation measure of building element and technical system, the team elaborated a datasheet that contained occurrences with relative probability-impact value (3.2) for both technical risks indicators:

- energy performance gap (Paragraph 2.2.1.1) used for calculating the energy performance deviation between predicted (planned) and real energy consumption, in kWh/m²year;
- damages (paragraph 2.2.1.2) used for malfunctions, breakages at building elements, in Euro (€).

These indicators are independent from each other and not exhaustive if considered separately.

Figure 8 reports the EEnvest breakdown methodology used to determine the technical risks (cause – effect) related to a single energy renovation measure, in this example "*new windows installation*". Energy performance gap triggering indicators in case of a "*new windows installation*" are: "*air infiltration and thermal bridge*", while damage triggering indicator is "*breakages and water infiltration*".



Figure 8. EEnvest methodology to determine technical risks of a single energy renovation measure.

Each occurrence is identified through two parameters, *probability* and respective *impact*, that show the trend distribution of the deviation variability. The technical risk data collection process used to create the EEnvest technical risk database of these two indicators (energy gap and damage) followed a top-down approach, passing from a general to a specific issue, from





literature reviews (3.3.1), interviews to building professionals and experts (3.3.2) to be completed by parametric energy performance simulations (3.3.3).

Furthermore, correction factors (paragraph 2.2.2) related to the boundary building condition as climate, building features or protocols are used in the calculation to increase or reduce the problem impact (Figure 9). Alerts, like the correction factors, are suggestions for the users (paragraph 2.2.3). All these data are collected in the EEnvest technical risk database.



Figure 9. Technical risks calculation – form data inputs to the financial indicators.

The building inputs, inserted case by case from the users, will activate some technical problems extracting them from the EEnvest technical risk database. The technical risk benchmark of each occurrence of the energy renovation measures implemented in the renovation project will be extracted from the EEnvest technical risk database, and risk impacts amount resized in relation to the project data inputs (building data) and correction factors (building boundary condition, protocols or verification procedures used, etc.). These last are identified as correction factors (paragraph 2.2.2) and run in the quantification process of the indicators, Figure 10. In term of outputs measurement unit, both technical risk indicators, energy performance gap and damage, are in percentage of the investment.



Figure 10. EEnvest top down approach to determine the technical risks database and the use of correction factors.

Once the occurrences, the impact and the probability have been identified, and through *"probability mass function"* will be combined the occurrences (Annex I) will generate all the technical risk probabilistic combination of occurrences for both indicators, energy performance gap and damage. Annex I presents the determination process used to combine the technical risk of several occurrences that will be implemented in the EEnvest platform (WP5). At the end the complete probabilistic trend of combination of technical risks of these two indicators (outputs of WP2) will be used in the WP3 in the Financial Risk Assessment process, where a random sampling of the probabilistic technical risk of a specific energy renovation scenario will be extracted and then applied to project cash flows through a Monte Carlo simulation (D3.1).

2.2.1TECHNICAL RISK DATABASE INDICATORS

Data collection process used to gather the technical risks for EEnvest web-platform database was developed according to a top-down approach, passing from a general to a specific issue, in relation to the users' inputs (building features, renovation solutions sets, boundary condition) by two indicators: energy renovation gap and damages. Probability and respective impacts where identified through literature, real data (experts), and parametric energy simulation.

During the identification of each occurrence, mitigation measures were also collected, as correction factor able to modify the cause-effects result.

The two indicators, energy performance gap and damage describe two different economic aspects, both related to the decision-making choices, but with different meaning. For example, in Figure 11 there are two identical buildings, located in two different area condition, one in a city and one close to the sea. Hypothesising similar climate conditions, the technical risk indicator of the energy gap results the same affecting the investment for a 15%, while the damage indicators, in the building located close to sea results three times more higher,





producing an impact that should increase the final investment by 60%, due to the external condition, namely the salt presence in the air.



Figure 11. Technical risks indicators: energy gap and damage, as % of the investment.

The procedure developed to define the impacts is reflected in the simplified validation data process (described in section 4.1.5) with a good level of approximation even if the high value is higher than the range defined with the general literature data. Moreover, it is necessary to underline that, in the EEnvest technical risk assessment, each impact is referred to a specific probability that event occurs.

It is important to highlight that, even though design errors can lead to performance gaps and damages, the literature review and the expert interviews underline the difficulties to define and quantify the impacts of design errors, due to the excessive number of possible cases and the difficulty to quantify designing effects. Therefore, in the EEnvest technical risk assessment the effect of design errors has been neglected because we start from the assumption that in the design phase the experts have already considered this issue in the planned project. Furthermore, potential risk deriving from design errors should be beard by the designer, i.e. hedged for the investor.

2.2.1.1 Energy performance gap

One of the most common problems connected to the energy renovation of existing buildings is the energy performance gap (chapter 1.2) between energy performance predicted in the design stage and actual energy consumption usually measured in the occupation stage (Cuerda et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2019) [12] [13].

Energy performance gap is defined as the deviation value between building energy performance predicted (calculated) and real energy consumption measured. This gap depends on several factors:

• *calculation model,* such as the type of energy performance simulation tool used, the detail level of building model (inputs) and the level of simplification (or complexity) adopted (Van Dronkelaar et al., 2016) [6].





- *building boundary conditions*, such as external conditions, difference between the trend of outdoor temperature estimated and real one [14]
- *building regulation parameters* commonly used in the simulations (as indoor temperature) are sometimes different from the real ones, due to the difference in the building occupancy schedules working/hours, lighting, shading systems, appliances, that the final users select to increase the indoor comfort (occupant behaviour). (Stoppel and Leite, 2013) [15],
- errors in design, workmanship/installation, or operation (as general systems' control settings).

As reported by van Dronkelaar et al. (2016) [6] the energy performance gap deviation between the predicted energy performance and measured energy consumption in office buildings in a UK context, is about 16%, due to modelling issues (20-60%), occupant behavior (10-80%) and poor operational practices (15-80%).

A result presented in <u>this report Shi et al. (2019)</u> [12] shows that there is a reliable correlation between building features, such as type, climate, floor area, etc. and the energy performance gap analysis.

Furthermore, deviations between predicted and actual energy consumption occur during the operation phase of the building but they are strictly connected with the choices made in the design phase, and with the final quality of the installation/construction phase. In the EEnvest technical risk determination process of the energy performance gap indicator is been used a method based on benchmarks of risks, cause-effect occurrences completed of relative impactprobability information. Deviation amounts, as modification of the planned energy performance, are estimated in percentage of kWh/m²year, and depends on the building features, boundary condition and renovation scenario. The magnitude of the energy gap (level of deviation from the planned energy performance) is a variable value of each outcoming event of the renovation measures that affects the final prefixed targets. The impact of energy performance variation (value) was estimated in a range of values (with a minimum and a maximum, and their probability) that depends and changes in relation to the renovation scenario settings inserted by users. Within the EEnvest technical risk database the energy performance gap of each renovation measures is collected. The measurement unit used is a percentage of the investment and it is determined through a top-down analysis and verified by a bottom-up approach. The energy gaps have been determined through an extensive literature review, interviews to building experts or estimated by energy performance simulation. As already explained in paragraph 3.2.2, in the EEnvest technical risk assessment the effect of design errors has been neglected. Within the proposed method, the inputs that enable to assess the technical risk of renovation measures were identified, based on specific inputs and uncertainty values considering the risk into the simulation through the deviation of the energy performance.





ENERGY PERFORMANCE GAP - DATABASE

	Lo	w	Med	lium	High			
	Prob. %	Impact	Prob. %	Impact	Prob. %	Impact		
Air infiltration								
Thermal bridge								
 Literature review Interviews Other database from 	EU research	projects	 Literatu Intervie Real ex 	ure review ews periences o	r energy sim	nulation		

Figure 12. Energy performance gap assessment process

2.2.1.2 Damage

Damage is the second category that was adopted to define technical risk of energy renovation measures. Damages are breaking events, deteriorations or malfunctions that may occur during the building operation phase. In this regard, it is important to underline that extraordinary maintenances only are considered as damages. These events require a technical intervention to carry out the required repair and replace the damaged components, for the description of the damage level, three levels of cost impact (low, medium and high) have been defined as cost amount deviation due to company call fee, kind of repair intervention from a localized damage to a substitution's parts, or demolitions with relative finishing works, plus workings hours of building expert, materials and mechanical tools used.

These indicators will be transformed into numerical percentages of the initial investment cost at a later stage of the damage evaluation. In EEnvest damage evaluation assessment, damages included in the component's warranty are not considered.

	Lo	w	Med	lium	High			
	Prob. %	Impact	Prob. %	Impact	Prob. %	Impact		
Air infiltration								
Thermal bridge								
Water infiltration								
Literature review Interviews Other database from EU	J research p	projects	- Literatur - Interviev - LCC - Price bu	re review ws ilding works	s (public dat	abase)		

DAMAGE - DATABASE



2.2.2DATABASE CORRECTION FACTORS

A correction factor is a "value" used in a multiplication equation to correct the results. Correction factors have been defined within EEnvest technical risk calculation method to





consider all those aspects and boundary conditions deviating from the base case, which may affect the risk size. They have been classified in several topics (Figure 14) in relation to the building boundary conditions and their field of activity:

- <u>Climate conditions:</u> these influence the building energy efficiency performance, increasing or reducing energy losses.
- <u>Building site</u>: for instance, wind intensity influence on air infiltration is different if the building is located in a city centre or in an industrial zone in the city outskirts. This is an important information in the determination of the air infiltration and the energy losses connected with that. At the same time, knowing if the building is close to the sea, is an important input for the "damage" calculation, as this condition can reduce the service life of the building components. In this case, a possible mitigation measure can be to require a specific "maintenance program", in which covers the special needs of this contest.
- Building features and building scale factors: parameters strictly connected to the pilot proposed by the user. These are parameters, which affect the building energy behaviour, such as building shape (from EN 15217:2007), or transmission heat loss coefficient (from UNI EN ISO 13789:2001), together with all the parameters connected to the renovation measures (material, dimensions, etc.). Correction factors are also used to adapt the influence of several energy renovation measures when applied together. An example is, when in the energy renovation strategies both insulation of external walls and new windows installation are planned and implemented together. In this case, the probability to have thermal bridge is reduced compared to the case where new windows only are installed, due to some real limitations during the installation works.
- Protocols used in the design, construction, operation phase. In case of presence of an energy performance and quality protocol already approved, such as LEED, KlimaHouse, Passive House, the technical risks directly related to the protocol's ambit can be considered as reduced or in some cases zero. For example, in case of KlimaHouse or Passive House certification, the technical risk associated to air infiltration can be assumed zero. In fact, to achieve KlimaHouse certification some verification processes during the development of design and construction phases, like the Blower Door Test, are mandatory. This means no (or very low) deviation from planned energy performance, with a consequent increment of the guarantee value of the business plan, due to the achievement of the performance results. Starting from these assumptions, in the technical risk calculation the presence of energy losses due to air infiltration is not considered. The achievement of the KlimaHouse certification, in this technical risk calculation method, reduces to zero (null probability) its influence in indicator "energy gap".
- <u>Managing innovation process or other verification processes</u>. The same concept of protocols. Technical risks can be reduced if these "process measures" as blower door test, thermography, maintenance program, ETICS guarantee, BIM, Maintenance program, automatic meter reading systems installed, etc. are implemented.



Figure 14. Type of correction factors

Here below are reported the correction factors relation between the boundary condition and technical risks (Table 2).





Parameters that a	affects the te	chnical risk	s		
		Building	physic and Tec	hnical systen	า
Boundary condition – mitigation action	Air infiltration	Thermal bridge	Overheating	Loss on energy efficiency	System and components performance
Climate contest					
Heating dominated (Mediterranean)	Х		Х		Х
Central Europe conditions (Temperated)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Cooling dominated (Nordic)	Х	Х		Х	Х
Building site					
Urban contest: city center (low wind, urban heat island)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Extra-urban contest: industrial zone or close to the sea (high wind)	Х	Х		Х	Х
Building exposure: mostly shaded			Х	Х	Х
Building exposure: mostly sunny			Х	Х	Х
Difficult construction site (reduced space, or other kind of difficulties)	Х	Х			
Building features - building scale factors					
Building shape - S/V	Х	Х		Х	Х
Window-Wall Ratio - WWR	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Protocols used in the design, construction, operation phase.					
International performance measurement and verification protocol (IPMVP)	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Passive House certification	Х	Х	Х	Х	
LEED certification	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Other energy performance certification (Casaclima, Bream, Greenstar, etc.)	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Managing innovation process or other verification processes					
Blower door test	Х			Х	Х
Thermography		Х	Х	Х	Х
Maintenance program (LCC evaluation)	Х	Х	Х	Х	
specific ETICS guarantee	Х	Х		Х	
Integrated energy performance process	Х	Х		Х	
BIM (in design and implementation)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Maintenance plan completed of management and verification actions and reference persons	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
etc.)			Х	Х	Х
Monitoring system (sensors, alert, user feedback, etc.)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
X: presence of correction factor - it will be positive or negative, to reduce or in	crease the final o	ccurrence			

Table 2. Boundary condition to supply the correction factors

2.2.3DATABASE ALERT

In the EEnvest technical risk calculation method so-called "alerts" have been defined and introduced. Alerts are meant to warn the users of the EEnvest web-platform against dangerous situations which may arise during the implementation of some energy renovation measures.

Alerts are suggestions for the users, which can be considered mitigation measures as well, if adopted. In fact, they can reduce the number of negative occurrences, or their impact, also in terms of commercial value, validating the benefits coming from the renovation project.





Furthermore, some alerts do not have a quantifiable impact and depend on several variables, such as (i) the end user behaviour of the buildings (e.g. open/close the windows, turn off the monitors), or (ii) technical aspects such as the water condensation on internal glass, due, to physical issue (e.g. presence of thermal bridge) or more factors that happen together (e.g. internal humidity, no ventilation, number of people, activity done...). In this case, an alert highlights an unquantifiable occurrence, suggesting a design-technical problem-solving action proposing more attention in the design phase, with a mechanic ventilation system with emission system towards glass-windows.

For building components, lifespan is the economic lifetime expectancy, normally specified in years. Alert, as an EEnvest web-platform output, is a fundamental goal to reduce damage, it provides information about when replacement cost for the building components need to be taken into account. In case of building services, the EN 15459:2018 provides the lifespan and yearly maintenance costs of each element, as a percentage of the initial investment. Both data will be integrated in the EEnvest platform in form of a warning, which is displayed when the selected business plan timing exceeds the components lifespan of the investigated renovation measure, causing in this way an extra-cost due to the component replacement.

Final users, using the platform, can receive recommendations coming from alerts, for the reduction or technical risks and relative negative effects in term of costs, of a single project (D2.2).

2.2.4MITIGATION MEASURES

Mitigation measures are actions for EEnvest web-platform users, identified in WP2, to prevent, reduce or control negative occurrences during or after the energy renovation of commercial buildings. Mitigation measures are adopted to reduce as much as possible damage at the building elements or technical systems, that cause negative effects, technical replacement, or restoration. Mitigation measures will be deeply presented in the D2.2.





3 EENVEST TECHNICAL RISKS DATABASE

In this chapter the EEnvest technical risk database is presented, from organization of the data (paragraph 3.1), the classification of datasheet for building elements and technical system (paragraph 3.2) and process used to collect and identify the technical risk data (paragraph 3.3).

3.1 EENVEST TECHNICAL RISK DATABASE ORGANIZATION

The data collected in the EEnvest technical risk database came from literature reviews, interviews, and simulations, applying a top-down approach, that decomposes the building in macro-areas (envelope and technical systems, including the RES) – building elements – renovation measures. At this level, we identified the negative occurrences that can happen during the renovation phases, from design to operation one, and the parameters that affect, modifying, the energy performance or the damages (increasing or reducing) with different intensity, case by case.

At the end, all the technical risks of renovation process were collected in a EEnvest technical risk database, able to assess and determine the indicators impact (outputs) through a topdown approach, passing from a general building to a specific pilot, in relation to the users inputs (building features, renovation solutions sets, boundary condition). The results are two indicators, energy gap and damage, on economic variation of the investment, identifying through Monte Carlo method, and with a certain level of randomness or fall within a fairly wide range.



Figure 15. Organization of technical risk assessment.





3.2 IDENTIFICATION ON TECHNICAL RISKS FOR EACH BUILDING ELEMENTS

In this paragraph the datasheets of each building element renovation measure are reported. Each datasheet aims to collect the technical problems, the parameters that affect the impact variation, included the probability, and the mitigation measures (correction factors). The list below helps navigate through the developed contents, referring to a set of figures showing datasheet excerpts.

BUILDING ENVELOPE ELEMENTS

- 1. Roof (Figure 17):
 - Flat roof
 - Pitched roof
- 2. Floor (Figure 18):
 - Next to the ground (outside)
 - Next to air (outside)
 - Floor next to unheated area (es. Garage)
- 3. Walls (all typologies) (Figure 19-Figure 22):
 - External wall:
 - o External Cladding
 - o Prefabricated facade
 - o Internal Insulation
 - Window facade system:
 - Curtain wall
 - Double skin
 - Wall next to unheated area:
 - New insulation
 - Wall next to ground:
 New insulation
- 4. Windows (Figure 23)
- 5. Shading system (Figure 24)
- 6. External doors (Figure 25)
- 7. Other elements (Figure 26)

BUILDING SERVICES AND RES SYSTEMS

- 8. Heat pump (Figure 27Figure 27):
 - Air/air HP
 - Air/water HP
 - Geothermal HP
- 9. District Heating (Figure 28)
 - District Heating Substation
 - Customer's internal heating system
- 10. Gas Boiler (Figure 29):
 - Condensing boiler
- 11. Biomass boilers (Figure 30)
 - Condensing boiler
- 12. Emission system (Figure 31)
 - Radiant floor
 - Radiant ceiling





- Radiators
- 13. Distribution system (Figure 32)
- 14. Cooling system (Figure 33)
 - Chiller
- 15. Mechanical ventilation system (Figure 34)
- 16. Electric system (Figure 35)

DATASHEET LEGEND

In Figure 16 the legend of the information contained in the datasheet is reported, as follows:

- The technical risk indicators
 - Energy gap in a yellow rectangle
 - Damage in a violet rectangle
- Correction factors in orange rectangle
- Alerts in red rectangle.



Figure 16. How to read the datasheet information









Figure 17. Roof risk probability breakdown definition

 Deliverable D2.1
 33
 Version 1.0

 Report on technical risks in renovation
 26/06/2020

 This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement n° 833112









Figure 18. Floor risk probability breakdown definition







	WALLS
EXTERNAL WALL	1. EXTERNAL CLADDING (insulation, glue and plaster)
	2. VENTILATED FAÇADE WITH EXTERNAL CLADDING (insulation, anchoring, fixing system, and external façade cladding)
	3. PREFABRICATED FAÇADE (insulation, final cladding, anchoring, fixing system,)
	4. INTERNAL INSULATION (insulation, glue and plaster)
	5. WINDOW FAÇADE SYSTEM - Curtain wall
	6. WINDOW FAÇADE SYSTEM - Double skin (replacement or addition)
→ WALL NEXT TO UNHEATED AREA (GARAGE)	New insulation (of any kind)
→ WALL NEXT TO GROUND (OUTSIDE)	New insulation (of any kind)
	a External re-insulation New window dsf Curtain wall

Figure 19. Wall risk probability breakdown definition: overviews solutions (1/4)









Figure 20 External wall risk probability breakdown definition: external cladding, ventilated façade with external cladding (2/4)








Figure 21. External wall risk probability breakdown definition: external cladding, ventilated façade with external cladding (3/4)









Figure 22. External wall risk probability breakdown definition: external cladding, ventilated façade with external cladding (4/4)









Figure 23. Window risk probability breakdown definition

 Deliverable D2.1
 39
 Version 1.0

 Report on technical risks in renovation
 26/06/2020

 This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement n° 833112









Figure 24. Shading system risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 25. External Door risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 26. Other elements risk probability breakdown definition







		HEAT PUMPS		
		Fan	26%(OEM) – 19% (IC) probability	
		Control and electronics	25%(OEM) – 13% (IC) probability	23%(OEM) – 12% (IC) cost impact
	DAMAGE	Temperature sensors	16%(OEM) probability	No data cost impact
AIR/AIR HP NEW INSTALLATION	-	Compressor	30%(IC) probability	46% (IC) cost impact
	PERFORMANCE GAP		X probability	
		Fan		%(OEM) % (IC) cost impact
	DAMAGE	Control and electronics	25%(OEM) – 8% (IC) probability	
		Temperature sensors		%(OEM) - % (IC) cost impact
		Compressor	24% (IC) probability	
		Pressure switch	44%(OEM) – % (IC) probability	
	PERFORMANCE GAP		X probability	—X impact
GEOTHERMAL HPNEW INSTALLATION	ſ	Liquid pumps	17%(OEM) – % (IC) probability	18%(OEM) – % (IC) cost impact
		Control and electronics	31%(OEM) – 14% (IC) probability	28%(OEM) – 9% (IC) cost impact
	DAMAGE	Compressor	19% (IC) probability	49% (IC) cost impact
		Shuttle valve	19%(OEM) – 22% (IC) probability	
	PERFORMANCE GAP		X probability	

Figure 27. Heat pump risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 28 District heating risk probability breakdown definition







GAS BOILERS Limescale water pipes/heat -- % probability X impact exchanger -- % probability X impact Flooding 0 if: air break into pipework DAMAGE - % probability X impact Pressure loss CONDENSING NEW INSTALLATION BOILER -- % probability Frozen condensate pipe X impact 0 probability if pipe installed +°C area Leaks or drips - % probability X impact PERFORMANCE GAP Sensor faults X probability X impact

Figure 29 Gas boilers risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 30 Biomass boilers risk probability breakdown definition







EMIS	SION SYSTEM		
	Leaks	% probability	X impact
RADIANT NEW INSTALLATION DAMAGE	Freezing	% probability	X impact
	Air in the system	% probability	X impact
RADIANT NEW INSTALLATION DAMAGE			
CEILING		% probability	X impact
	Leaks	in processing	- A MARCE
RADIATORS	Freezing	% probability	X impact
	Air in the system	% probability	X impact

Figure 31 Emission system risk probability breakdown definition







DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM -- % probability X impact Manifold -- % probability X impact Standalone circulator Shut-off, Balancing, Non-return, DAMAGE Angle seat, In-line/Flange, - % probability X impact **BUILT-IN** Fill/Drain valves COMPONENTS NEW INSTALLATION -- % probability X impact Strainer Diaphragm expansion vessel - % probability X impact - % probability Pipes X impact

Figure 32 Distribution system risk probability breakdown definition







COOLING SYSTEM - % probability X impact Corrosion -- % probability X impact Refrigerant leaks DAMAGE Electric control failure -- % probability X impact NEW INSTALLATION -- % probability X impact Biased sensors PERFORMANCE GAP Sensor faults X probability X impact

Figure 33 Cooling system risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 34 Mechanical ventilation risk probability breakdown definition









Figure 35 Electric system risk probability breakdown definition





3.3 TECHNICAL RISKS DATA COLLECTION: PROBABILITY AND IMPACTS IDENTIFICATION

In this paragraph is reported the collection strategy used to identify the value of the parameters of preidentified technical issues for each building elements (paragraph 3.2).

3.3.1 Literature review

The literature review is mainly based on several topics, to identify the cause-effects impact, running parameters and mitigation measures (reported in alphabetic order):

- Air infiltration: air changes, volume, heat exchange, wind, pressure, ...
- Analytic Hierarchy Process
- Cost Optimal
- Energy Performance Gap
- Facade systems for office buildings
- FMEA
- Glass breakage
- HVAC faults
- Impact automatic lighting control
- Internal condensation
- Internal insulation
- Maintenance office buildings
- Overheating: shading management, final users, indoor comfort, glare
- Prefabricated façade
- Protocols, certification, or verification processes (LEED, PassiveHouse, CasaClima,)
- Shading system
- Technical risks
- Thermal bridge
- Thermal insulation failure
- WWR







Figure 36 Literature reviews topics to identify the parameters that affects the cause-effects technical risks.

Concerning building services, a general definition and classification of faults was established. Three main categories have been identified: physical faults, faults related to inappropriate control sequencing and soft faults. Hard faults are breakages, deteriorations, malfunctions and failures. These problems may cause both a damage and a performance gap. In the case of inappropriate control sequencing and biased sensors (soft faults) the hypothesis of only a performance gap has been adopted. In this way we assume that the deviation from the planned investment weights negatively only on the energy efficiency building indicator.





BUILDING SERVICES FAULTS Damage Example: Refrigerant leakage, broken sensors Underperformance (meters, actuators Breaking event (Breakage) Damage Example: Dirty filters, Deterioration/ distribution pipes insulation Detachment Underperformance Malfunction/failure Example: AHU outdoor air Damage intake damper is stuck open Biomass boiler fuel/feed Underperformance auger not functioning INAPPROPRIATE Example: AHU's supply air Underperformance pressure setpoint is too low Biased sensors Underperformance

Figure 37 Building service faults structure.

3.3.2 Interviews

Interviews were carried out to identify the probability and the impact of each problem connected to each renovation scenario, composed of either one measure or a group of renovation measures.

Stakeholders involved in the interview:

- ESCO: building envelope elements and technical systems
- Building and facility managers: building envelope elements and technical systems (maintenance issues)
- Constructors: building envelope elements and technical systems
- Building experts: as architects for building envelope elements, or mechanic engineers for technical systems

The interviews are conducted in several steps. The first step is to take contact with the stakeholder, usually by mail and phone call. Once they accepted to participate at the interview, we organize a first call (teleconference call) where we present EEnvest project, final objective, WP2 and relative database. Showing the "Template on building elements and technical system", modified ad hoc for the interview, on the top a specific area to collect the unit measure that the stakeholder used (square meters, percentage of volume, number of buildings,...) in relation of his/her own personal experiences, Figure 38. During calls with the stakeholders an active dialogue is activated, and positive results achieved, as improvements on information and content template, and probability-impacts data collected. Currently three interviews have been made through online technology (also for COVID-19 issue) and 5 more are planned.





Please, in relation of your experience identify which kind of r % of buildings, % of m2, m2, m3, n. of elments/buildings	umber you will use:	PROBABILITY	IMPACT	CORRECTION FACTORS
ROOF FLAT EXTERNAL INSULATION AIR INFILTRATION (KPI airtightness) Air leakage along on: THERMAL BRIDGE (KPI V) Along on:	General Installation: corners (overlay sheath or tape laying), bad Insulation laying, wall- roof connection Components Interfaces: windows, chimney, lift, border or parapet connection, other technical system (as RES Installation) O H : Blower door test; certification, ETICS guarantee General Installation: corners, bad insulation laying, wall-roof connection Components connection: windows, chimney, lift, border or parapet connection, other technical system (as RES Installation) O H : Thermography check/campaign, ETICS guarantee, etc.	X % probability X % probability D If: no/limited components X % probability X % probability D If: no/limited components	X impact X impact X impact X impact	BUILDING HEIGHT WIND EXPOSURE ROOF / GLASS RATIO
WATER INFLITRATION (KPI m2) Along on: INTERNAL INTERNAL INSULATION HERMAL BRIDGE (KPI W) Along on:	General Installation: corners (overlay sheath or tape laying), bad insulation laying, wall- roof connection: windows, chimney, lift, border or parapet connection, other technical system (as RES installation) General Installation: corners, bad insulation laying, wall-celling connection Components connection: windows, chimney, lift, border or parapet connection, other technical system (as RES installation) 0 if : Thermography check/campaign	X % probability X % probability D if: no/limited components X % probability X % probability D if: no/limited components	X impact X impact X impact X impact	ROOF / GLASS RATIO

Figure 38 template for the interviews

3.3.3 Parametric energy performance simulation

Parametric energy performance simulation was used to determine the functional deviation, in terms of energy losses due to different reason, from malfunctioning to technical problems, both for the envelope and for the technical systems. We focused our efforts to identify missing data impacts that we did not extrapolate from the literature review or building experts knowledge (by interviews).

Parametric simulations were performed to estimate different impact levels of each predefined problem, varying building physic parameters or other technical parameters within a range of values coming from literatures or real experiences. The energy performance calculation tool was PHPP (Passive House Planning Package) in parallel with in-house tool elaborated ad hoc for parametric simulation (made by EURAC) developed to perform parametric analyses on many design input variables. [16].

Case by case, in relation to the building elements or technical system analysed, the inputs parameters are changed, to simulate several energy deviation scenarios, changing the parameters value of standard condition.

Here below a list of parameters and relevant assumptions used for the simulations:

Building parameters:

- climate conditions: three climates, HDD, wind exposure, orientation, etc.
- building dimensions: heating area, volume, Window/Wall ratio (WWR), etc.
- building shape: surface/volume ratio, etc.

General assumption used in the parametric simulation:





- Good design level (design error effect is not considered)
 - Thermal bridge should be implemented in the calculation process by the user.
 - Related problems as indoor condensation should be verified by the user (or his experts).
 - These losses should be introduced in the energy performance calculation.
- Tool used: PHPP together with EURAC in-house parametrization tool
- Office building models, three different buildings with different dimension and architectonic features:
 - o S/V ratio:
 - compact (0 < S/V < 0,20)
 - slightly irregular (0,20 < S/V < 0,70)
 - irregular complex (S/V >0,70)
 - o Dimensions

0

- WWR ratio:
 - low (WWR between 0-20%) as single windows
 - medium (WWR between 20-40%) important fenestration
 - high (WWR between 40-60%)
 - total fenestration (WWR over 60% curtain wall)
- Building site, three climates:
 - North Europe (Nordic), Sweden, Stockholm
 - o Central Europe (Temperate), France, Paris
 - o South Europe (Mediterranean), Italy, Rome
- Other parametric inputs (as variable) will be identified step by step, in relation to the building elements evaluated and occurrences found. For example, in the windows we considered the energy losses coming from air infiltration and thermal bridge. Within PHPP we varied the parameters that describe it, like air change rate and the air pressure normally used for the Blower Door Test (50 Pascals).

Parametric simulation process is also used to verify the data found. It means that the value of the data found in the literature review on energy performance deviation (between predicted and real energy consumption of several commercial buildings) is been verified by energy simulation tool. The final value calculated should be close enough to the deviation value found in the simulation. Significant deviations from the comparisons with general data should be justified.

The parametric simulation results will be reported in the next deliverable, in each technical risk datasheet elaborated for the EEnvest technical risk database.





4 DATABASE INDICATORS RESULT: TWO EXAMPLES

This chapter reports the results obtained from the research conducted on two building elements. We decided to show two positive examples in terms of collection and determination process of technical risk data details. Those elements are window element and district heating technology system.

4.1 WINDOW ELEMENT RISK INDICATORS

Focusing on the windows building element as renovation measure to improve energy efficiency, a breakdown structure referred to the main technical risks has been done (Figure 39). The definition of the breakdown structure has followed an iterative procedure that started with a very detailed technical issue list, both for the main problems (second column) and for the specific causes (third column), thanks to the literature review and real experiences. Subsequently, the breakdown structure has been improved and optimized thanks to the specific review through building experts' interviews, to arrive at the most suitable and representative technical risk assessment structure.



Figure 39. Windows - breakdown approach

4.1.1 Literature review

The literature review laid the foundation for the elaboration of the technical risk breakdown structure of each building elements, from the problem identification, to the definition of their impact-probability. Figure 40 displays how the data have been collected and structured: in yellow rectangle the impact of the energy performance gap, and in violet rectangle the impact of damage. In the datasheet alerts and correction factors are collected as well.

On the one hand, alerts are highlighted in red rectangles, as they represent potentially dangerous or difficult circumstances that users must consider. As an example, Figure 40 shows an alert on air condensation; this will be considered in both phases of the project development.

On the other hand, correction factors, highlighted in orange rectangle, report an indication, as in this case: "*0 if: Blower door test*". It means that in case of Blower Door Test the probability of this specific occurrence (air infiltration) is null.







Figure 40. Window breakdown template: datasheet for EEnvest technical risk database.

An extensive literature review has been conducted, mainly focusing on the most common problems that affect the overall predicted performances of buildings and the main related damages that occur referred to the specific measures. This review has underlined the importance and the interest in these topics among the scientific community but also a poor quantity of reliable and specific data analysis reported in articles and scientific papers. This information lack can be referred due the unpredictability of these phenomenon and the poor reliable data set coming from real building performance monitoring. However, the literature review focused on the windows element presents some useful information, mostly related to the energy performance gap, from a large scale to a specific issue:

- Regarding the definition of the technical issues, in addition to the previous literature review, some further scientific papers have been analysed. As an example, *Yuting Qi et all,2019* defines, thanks to specific surveys among experts in the constructions sectors, a list of 25 quality failure problems in the renovation process of a building [7]. Even if the paper referred to residential buildings, the results are useful because the type of problematics related to windows replacement can be assimilated also in the non-residential buildings such as <u>untreated wall around the new windows</u>; misalignment between the doors and window and the wall; incorrect installations, etc. (*Yuting Qi, Queena K. Qian, Frits M. Meijer and Henk J. Visscher*) see Figure 2 p. 14.
- Regarding the energy performance gap between the predicted and the real measurement, several papers have been analysed. In the IPEEC Performance gap report [5] the energy performance gap between the predicted and measured (Table 1– page 13) is well summarized and going deeply in some aspect such us a list of possible causes and construction quality defects such as <u>bad airtightness of the windows and doors</u>, etc.





- Regarding the air infiltration impacts several sources have been retrieved. Som Shrestha et al. (2019) [17] and the Department of Energy USA 2014 [18] report in several papers, that the air infiltration in buildings is a fundamental part that can vary the impact on the energy performance between 15% to 20% of total energy consumption (data used for the data validation process, in Figure 34). Emmerich et al., (2005) [19] demonstrates that the impacts of the air infiltration in the U.S. office buildings, referred to the leak-free building, is up to an average of 33% of the total heating loads. Emmerich and Persily (2014) [20] also deeply analysed the variability of the air infiltration in commercial buildings referring to the building age, height, floor area, type of envelope and based on HDG. This information has become useful in defining the correction factors. Younes et al. (2012) [21] re-elaborated the data from Dickerhoff et al. (1982) [22] that performed a specific test regarding the air leakages in a residential building. Dickerhoff et al. (1982) defined, for each building component, the percentage impact related to the windows and doors, as an average of 15% of the total air infiltration. Even if this last paper is referred to the residential buildings, the specificity of the tests performed can give an important feedback and a useful percentage range regarding the single components air leakages impacts.
- Van Den Bossche and Janssens (2016) [23] performed and tested in lab conditions, water and airtightness on more than 437 windows with different configurations (sliding, single or double window) and materials (wood, PVC, aluminium). The results showed the differences between windows typologies and materials. Barnes et al. (2013) [24] investigate, through a finite-element analysis, the "installed thermal bridge" of a window frame especially referred to the sill connection comparing a well design detail with a traditional one. These data results useful among others being a reference data range for the thermal bridge impacts.

4.1.2 Interviews

A series of targeted interviews to window specialists were conducted. Interviews resulted very helpful for the final configuration of the technical risk structure breakdown, because the on-site and factual experiences of professionals in the field helped to identify specific problems and impacts. In this case, for new windows installation, during the interviews with the external experts and windows manufactures is been discussed and improved the technical risk structure (windows breakdown template and collected impact and probability of each occurrence. Figure 41 reports the data obtained by an interview, as impact information.





Probability risk definition breakdown - Single Window



Figure 41. Example of window breakdown template with, in blue colour, the data values collected during an interview on energy performance gap and damage indicator.

In terms of energy performance gap (impact in yellow rectangle) window has two negative occurrences, air infiltration and thermal bridge. In terms of damage (impact in violet rectangle), the economic deviation is the cost due to repairs, with three level of configurations impact related to: company call fee, workmanship hours and materials. In this case, the measurement unit of the impact data is collected in rate change amount - volume/hour, in relation to the expert knowledge. Data inputs are being homogenized prior to use in the risk evaluation model. Through parametric energy simulation the energy performance gap in percentage of heating demand is determined, see next paragraph 4.1.3.

The damages identified in the new window installation are several, the same of energy gap as thermal bridge and air infiltration, plus water infiltration and glass breakage. The three level of damages identified for the windows are:

- low: company call fee, plus small intervention to repair a localized damage, plus reduced costs for the materials (foam, tapes, sheat, etc.);
- medium: company call fee, plus localized repair intervention with some substitution parts, or small demolitions with relative finishing works, plus costs for the materials (foam, tapes, plaster, painting, etc.);
- high: company call fee and an extensive repair intervention in both side (internal and external) with demolitions, relative repairing, and materials to the substitution of the part.

At the end, the team elaborated a window breakdown sheet (Figure 42) where information and data on both indicators (energy gap and damage) as % of investment was collected and later used in the energy performance simulations.

In the datasheet of the window breakdown all the data collected from literature and professional experts are reported (Figure 42 -Figure 45). For each occurrence a number is assigned (white rectangle on right side) that is later deeply analysed.





Probabilit	y risk definition breakdown	% probability % probability	impact 1 impact 2											
WINDOW	s -> probabilities and impacts	(KPI airtightness) —	Manufacturing issues (bad sealing)	% probability	impact 3									
dennition		Air leakage along on	Connection with other components (shading	% probability	impact 4									
			system, VMC, etc.)	% probability	impact 5									
			0 if : Blower door test	% probability	impact o									
	<u>Probability:</u> together with Company <u>Impact:</u> from Company W -> Low: 0	y W -> around 3 % 0,005 – mid: 0,01 – high: 0,02 V/h	(impact of each window on total air infiltration rate v	vith different problematic magnitudes)									
2	Probability: same as 1 → around 3% Impact: Iow → tech. call + 1h work to check and correct the internal sealing → 100 €/w → 55€/mq → 15% mid → tech. call + 2h work to replacement of the internal airthigness (tape, foam,) around the window + 1h work finishing + 20€ materials -> 250 €/w -> 135€/mq -> 35% high → tech. call + 2h work to replacement of the internal and external airthigness and possible infiltration cause (tape, foam, silicon) around the window + 3h work for finishing + 100€ materials -> 450 €/w -> 245€/mq -> 70%													
3	Probability: together with Company W -> it can be happening that during the manufacturing the sealing of the glass with the window frame shown some small defect -> around 0,5-1% Impact: from Company W -> the window with this kind of problem can cause a loss around -> Low: 0,001 – mid: 0,0025 – high: 0,005 V/h (each window)													
4	Probability: this problem can be included Impact: low -> tech. call + 1 mid -> tech. call + 1 high -> tech. call + 2	reased in the time. same as 3 -> a h work to check and correct the ir h work to check and correct the ir 1h work to check and correct the i	round 0,5-1% hternal and external glass-window sealing -> 100 €/w hternal and external glass-window sealing -> 100 €/w nternal and external glass-window sealing -> 100 €/w	v -> 55€/mq -> 15% v -> 55€/mq -> 15% v -> 55€/mq -> 15%										
5	<u>Probability</u> : together with Company window due the increse of the com <u>Impact</u> : Low: 0,01 – mid: 0,025– hig	y W -> the integration of different nections and internal-external pas ph: 0,05 V/h (impact of each windo	components in the window is one of the main risky p sage -> around 3,5% w)	problem that can affect importantly th	e performance of the									
6	Probability: same as 5 -> around 3, Impact: low -> tech. call + 1 mid -> tech. call + 2 high -> tech. call + 2 high -> tech. call + 4 for finishing + 100€	5% h work to check and correct the ir th work to replacement of the inte 3h work to replacement of the inte materials -> 350 €/w -> 190€/mq	nternal sealing around components -> 100 €/w -> 55 ernal airthigness for each components + 20€ material ernal and external airthigness and waterthigness (tap I -> 55%	€/mq -> 15% Is -> 200 €/w -> 110€/mq -> 30% pe, foam, silicon) around each compor	ients + 1h work									
7	Probability: if a Blower Door Test is performed after the renovation -> 0% Impact: Iow ; mid ; high -> 0%													

Figure 42. Window breakdown datasheet (1/4)- air infiltration occurrence - generated after the interviews.

Probabilit WINDOW definition	y risk definition breakdown s -> probabilities and impacts THERMAL BRIDGE	THERMAL BRIDGE (KPI Ψ) Along on:	Window frame or insulation layer - due in general (energy loss and <u>mould</u> probl Connection with other components and imperfections (shading system, VMC, et 0 if : Thermography check	to bad installation ems) manufacturing c.) 12	% probability % if: window monob % probability 0 if: no integrated com	impact olock 	8 9 10 11						
8	Probability: together with Compar Impact: together with Company W	ny W -> this thermal bridge is o √ -> Low: 0,02 – mid: 0,07 – hig	ne of the most frequent -> around 5 to 10 h: 0,20 W/mk -> <u>Additional target compa</u>) % ny -> max global 0,2-0,3	W/m2k of increasing in	Uw							
• •	Probability: the window monoblock is manufactured to decrease the energy loss due to insulation interfaces between window and wall. If you install it the probability to have energy loss decrease -> around half of point 8 Impact: can be estimate as 10% of the impact without WB -> Low: 0,005 - mid: 0,02 - high: 0,035 W/mk												
10	<u>Probability:</u> together with Compar points and manufacturing imperfe <u>Impact:</u> together with Company W	ny W -> this thermal bridge is or :ctions -> around 5 to 10% V -> Low: 0,05 – mid: 0,2 – high	ne of the most frequent and with high im : 0,30 W/mk	pact on thermal loss due	e the presence of many	connections, weak							
11 →	Probability: if a window without sp Impact: -> 0%	pecific integrated components -	-> 0%										
12 →	<u>Probability:</u> if a thermografic check the structure and to ensure the pr <u>Impact:</u> -> 0%	k/campaign is performed after edicted performance of the co	the renovation, most of the thermal brid mponent -> 0%	ges can be highlighted an	nd resolve before to star	rt the operativness of							

Figure 43 Window breakdown datasheet (2/4)- thermal bridge occurrence - generated after the interviews.



Figure 44 Window breakdown datasheet (3/4)- glass breakages - generated after the interviews.

Probability WINDOWs	y risk definition breakdown > probabilities and impacts		GLASS BREAKAGES due to	Weather defects (i Due to ba implement	and exposure conditions or glass n long time) d setting control strategy tations; change in users needs; sensors	% probability	- impact	15
definition WATER INFILTRATION		AUTOMATIC CONTROL OF	MALFUNCTION In opening/closing,	problem (etc.)	wrong data, malfunctions, breakage,	% probability	- impact	16
		OPENINGS WIDOWS	automatic control for natural ventilation, overheating	Due to fai (actuators	ults in the mechanical systems , sensors, engines, etc.)	% probability	impact	17
15	Probability: the cause of the glass problems are quite rare in a norma lmpact: low -> tbd -> glass mid -> tbd -> glass mid -> tbd -> glass high -> tbd -> glass	breakages mainly occur due th al window and there are many substitution -> 100-150 €/mq + substitution -> 100-150 €/mq substitution -> 100-150 €/mq	ne exposure of extrei variables such us ex + 1h technician -> 15 + 1h technician -> 15 + 1h technician -> 15	me environm position, din 0-200€/mq - 50-200€/mq 50-200€/mq	ental conditions or due the gla nensions, disomogenious shadi > 100% -> 100%	iss defect that along the ng, etc> between 0,3-	: years cracks. The -0,5 %	se
16	Probability: define the probability Impact: under developmen	that the setting of a controlled I <u>t</u>	d system doesn`t ma	tch the best (energy performance -> <u>under d</u>	levelopment %		
17 →	Probability: define the probability Impact: low -> tbd -> sensor mid -> tbd -> actua high -> tbd -> meter	of faults in the controlled syste r fault -> tech call + 1h work to itor fault > tech call + 1h work i o station fault-> tech call + 2h	em -> <u>under develop</u> change a sensor -> to change the actuat work to change the s	<u>ment</u> X% 100€/w or + <u>100€</u> ma sensor + 200	aterials -> 200 - 250€ € materials -> 350 - 5000€			
Figuro	45 Window bro	akdown datae	boot (A/A)	- auto	matic control	systom fai	luro-	

Figure 45 Window breakdown datasheet (4/4)- automatic control system failuregenerated after the interviews.

Some data are missing because of lack of information and due the fact that the interviews are still undergoing. Most updated information on this activity will be provided in D2.2, together with the risk mitigation measures and design recommendations.

4.1.3 Parametric energy performance simulation

In the window element analysis, the energy gap as a deviation between planned energy performance and real energy consumption, can be produced by two occurrences: such air infiltration as thermal bridge. Parametric simulations are used to estimate (and later to verify) the possible variable impact of these occurrences, changing the inputs in the simulation from the standard condition (as air infiltration rate, or linear thermal bridge etc.).







Figure 46. Windows risk probability breakdown definition template.

General assumption used in the parametric simulation:

- office Building site in Sweden NZEB as baseline
- calculation tool: Passive House Planning Package (PHPP)
- «standard» window dimensions from UNI EN ISO 10077
- variation values in the air infiltration and thermal bridge coming from literature and interview of companies
- prices/costs are defined with a simplified approach (see paragraph 5.1.2)

4.1.3.1 Parametric data inputs used for window – energy gap indicator

In the datasheet of the breakdown window, Figure 46, each occurrence (number in the white rectangle on right side) is deeply analysed, and a range of variable input values for parametric energy simulation is identified.

<u>Air infiltration</u> occurrence considered along window frame, integrated components, and manufacturing issues is deeply explained in Figure 47. Numbers 1,3,5: (i) definition of three different impacts (low, medium, high) of the air infiltration rate (n50) expressed in V/h that a standard window can have. (ii) definition of the infiltration rate (n50), from real data collected from literature and interviews and used in the simulation. (iii) energy deviation calculated in heating demand, is the differences between the baseline model and the parametric model, this last one calculated with a variable range of air infiltration rate, (iv) parametrization of the results in percentage (%) of the heating demand every sqm of windows area (%/m²).







Figure 47. Example of data used in PHPP tool to define the air infiltration impact

<u>Thermal bridge</u> occurrence considered along on window frame and integrated components is reported in the Figure 48. Numbers 8, 10: (i) definition of three different configuration impacts (low, medium, high) expressed in W/mk (linear thermal bridge) that a standard window can have; (ii) increasing the linear thermal bridge values data in the PHPP baseline model; data value collected from literature and interviews, (iii) energy deviation calculated in heating demand, is the difference between the baseline model and the parametric model, this last one calculated with a variable thermal bridge length range; (iv) parametrization of the results in percentage (%) of the heating demand every sqm of windows area (%/ m^2).

EEnvest			
Probability risk definition breakdown WINDOWS -> impacts definition THERMAL BRIDGE	THERMAL BRIDGE (KPI Ψ) Window frame or in in general (energy la Connection with oth imperfections (shad Along on: Connection with oth imperfections (shad 0 if : Thermography	nsulation layer - due to bad installation oss and mould problems) her components and manufacturing ding system, VMC, etc.) r check	impact 1
Value impacts Perimeter window: 5,42 meter Dispersion of the equivalent window « Input Window linear bridge for installation (d Window linear bridge for installation (d Output Design Heating demand: 16.41kWh/m ² «Real» Heating demand: 1= 16,416 % differences - 1= 0.04 M=0.12 H=0,1 % differences referred to sqm window	Jefected»: L= 0,02 M= 0,07 H=0,2 W/mk lesign): 0 defected» window): -> L= 0,02 M=0,07 H=0,20 W/mk a l=16,430 H=16,466 (kWh/m ² a) 34 % di incremento -> L= 0,02 M=0,07 H=0,19 (%/mq) increasing		
Value impacts • Perimeter window: 5,42 meter • Perimeter widefected zones: 1,23 meter • Dispersion of the equivalent window « Input • Window linear bridge for installation (d • Window linear bridge for installation (d • Design Heating demand: 16.41kWh/m ² • «Real» Heating demand: 16.41kWh/m ² • % differences -> L= 0,03 M=0,08 H=0; • % differences refered to sqm window	r defected»: L= 0,05 M= 0,2 H=0,3 W/mk lesign): 0 defected» window): -> L= 0,05 M=0,2 H=0,30 W/mk a I=16,423 H=16,430 (kWh/m ² a) 22 % di incremento > L= 0,02 M=0,04 H=0,07 (%/ mq) increasing	General assumption: • Use of a «standard» window -> 1,82m² • Perimeter of «standard» window -> 5,42 meter • Good design level (no wrong design effect) • Use the PHP of an office building (NZEB in Sweden) • Use general value coming from literature and interview of companies • Wide range of possibilities due the many possible factors involved • The prices/costs are defined with a semplified approach • Avg window cost -> 350€/mq	Window standard dimensions - UNI 10077 1480x1230mm A = 1,82 mq P = 5,42 ml

Figure 48 Example of data used in PHPP tool to define the thermal bridge impact

4.1.3.2Parametric data inputs used for window – damage indicator

<u>Due to air infiltration, thermal bridge, and water infiltration</u>. Numbers 2, 4, 6, 13, 15, 17: the definitions of these damages have been carried out defining three different possible magnitude impacts for each cause defining: (i) intervention cost; (ii) hours needed to perform the works multiply the unit cost; (iii) materials cost. (see paragraph 5.1.2)

4.1.4 Correction factors

Numbers 7, 9, 11, 12, 14, 18, 19: these correction factors have been defined as a percentage of reduction of a specific occurrence. In this case, in window element the Blower Door Test reduce to zero the presence of energy performance deviation due to the air infiltration, because the BDT made in the operation phase, verifying the final quality of the renovation work (installation phase) and the measures adopted in the design phase (planned phase).

4.1.5 Data validation/control process

Further general data coming from literature has been used as reference to check the overall impact of some problems. In order to validate the overall impact magnitude (probability combined with impacts) previously, defined (from literature, experts and simulation) a series of data comparisons have been done. The main scope of this task is to "validate" the impact probability trend for each energy renovation measure, matching different data found from literatures and interviews or obtained by energy performance simulation.

As example, the air infiltration problem calculated (paragraph 4.1.3.1) was compared with the general value coming from the literature (paragraph 4.1.1) and the results shown an acceptable deviation (Figure 49).





BASELINE				1							
Baseline Heating Demand MODEL 1 (NZEB Sweden)	16.410	kWh/m2a			Data valid	ation - wir	ndows air i	infiltration	1		
Totale window surface (glazing)	250,0	sqm				impact in	MODEL 1				
Literature values											
OVER-CONSUMPTION (increases) -> for ventilation only! - GENERAL D	overconsumpti	Baseline + over	rconsumption	1,40 —							
15%	2,4615	18,8715		1,20 —				/			
25%	4,1025	20,5125		1,00 -							
Literature values				0,80							
AIR INFILTRATION IMPACTS in each components - GENERAL DATA	min	avg	max	0,60							
walls	18,0%	35,0%	50,0%	0,40							
ceiling details / roof	3,0%	18,0%	30,0%	0.20							
Forced air ventilation	3,0%	18,0%	28,0%	-,							
windows and doors	6,0%	15,0%	22,0%		Low		Mid	Hig	th		
fireplace (corridors, garages, stairs)	0,0%	12,0%	30,0%		lauras ais infiltration in	an ant think	an air in Election inc				
vents leakages	2,0%	5,0%	12,0%	_	Iower all militation in	npaca nigi	ter all militration imp	act — EEN	vest data		
			on Baseline Heating Demand MODEL1								
		over	consumption (kWh/r	m2a)	Baseline + o	verconsumptio	on (kWh/m2a)				
SIMPLIFIED WITH GENE	RAL DATA			low	mid	high	low	mid	high		
components		15%			15%			15%			
windows and doors	0,90%	2,25%	3,30%	0,15	0,37	0,54	16,56	16,78	16,95		
components		25%			25%			25%			
windows and doors	1,50%	3,75%	5,50%	0,25	0,62	0,90	16,66	17,03	17,31		
									-		
AIR INFILTRATION WINDOW - Eenvest DATA			probability	sqm of windows		low	mid	high			
		probability	3,00%	7,50		0,066%	0,130%	0,200%			
	Window frame	if all probab				0,495%	0,975%	1,500%			
		impact				16,49	16,57	16,66			
	0	probability	3,50%	8,75		0,066%	0,270%	0,630%			
Mellideden de beeld	Components	if all probab				0,578%	2,363%	5,513%			
Validation / check!	connection	impact				16,50	16,80	17,31			
		probability	0,75%	1,88		0,020%	0,030%	0,066%			
	Manufacturing	if all probab				0,038%	0,056%	0,124%			
	Ŭ	impact				16,42	16,42	16,43			
					full probab togethe	0,18	0,56	1,17	(kWh/m2a)		

Figure 49. Excel datasheet with comparison results for air infiltration impact

Figure 49 reports a summarization scheme of air infiltration impact with the description of the values used in the PHPP tool and the relative results, normalized in percentage on square meter of window (%/sqm w), following the process explained in the next paragraph.

On the top there is the heating demand of the baseline model, and below the increase amount due to air infiltration found in literature, corresponding to 15% and 25% of heating demand (calculated in kWh(m²year). It is also reported the energy demand increase due to air infiltration divided for each building elements, in windows and door is 6-22%. At the end, air infiltration data variation are used as inputs in the energy parametric simulation to calculate for each different occurrence (window frame, components connections, manufacturing failures) three level of impact due to three level of air infiltration. The air infiltration impacts obtained from the simulation (EEnvest results blue line) were compared with the literature data (green lines), results in Figure 50.



Figure 50. Results of the data validation for the air infiltration impact on windows

The data trend shows that for the low and medium impacts, EEnvest data are in line with the general data while the high impact, at first glance, seems over-estimated. This discrepancy could arise from certain main aspects linked to this calculation where the correction factors are not considered, as well as the fact that the dependency/independence between problems, and





the general data usually found in the literature come from high energy performance commercial buildings.

4.1.6 Conclusion

The procedure developed to define the impacts is reflected in the simplified data validation process with a good level of approximation even if the high value is higher than the range defined with the general literature data. Moreover, in the EEnvest technical risk assessment, each impact is referred to a specific probability that the event occurs, producing a probabilistic trend of the deviation following three levels of impacts (low, medium and high). In this specific case, a specific datasheet for the window element, including a range of probabilistic impact trend is developed, Figure 51. It will be stored in the EEnvest technical risks database, together with all other envelope and building system elements.

INDICATORS (INP	UTS)																		
Heating Demand		kWh/m2y																	
Windows cost		€/m2 window																	
		-																	
			SOURCE	SOURCE	simulation base	d on a nZEB off	ice in Sweden				Based on 3506	İsqm							
WINDOW			Prot	ability		Heati		eating demand			Co		osts			Specific corrective factors			
			Interview	Literature	la	low		id	high		lc	w	rr	id	hi	igh	Blower Door Thermograph Test v		n Certificati on
			(as % of v could h prot	vindows that ave these olems)	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	yes	yes	yes
					(/o or impact/adit witdow)						(76 related to cost of a new window)								
Single window	AIR INFILTRATION			15%															
		Window frame	3,00%	•	0,066%	25%	0,130%	50%	0,200%	25%							0%		
		window iraine	3,00%								15%	40%	35%	40%	70%	20%	0%		
		Components connection	3,50%		0,066%	25%	0,270%	50%	0,630%	25%	_						0%		
			3,50%								15%	40%	30%	40%	55%	20%	0%		
		Manufacturing	0,75%		0,020%	50%	0,030%	25%	0,066%	25%	15%	33%	15%	33%	15%	33%	0%		
		Blower Door Test	0%															1	
	THERMAL BRIDGE																	-	
		Window frame	7 50%		0.020%	25%	0.070%	50%	0 190%	25%								0%	
		Components connection	7 50%		0.020%	25%	0.040%	25%	0.070%	50%								0%	
		Thermography	0%		0,02070	2070	0,04070	2070	0,01070	0070								070	
	WATER INFILTRATION		370																
		Window frame	6.00%								15%	30%	35%	55%	55%	15%			
	GLASS BREAKAGEs																		
		Glass	0.40%								25%	33%	25%	33%	25%	33%			
	ALERT	CHECK THE AIR CONDENS	ATION IN GL	ASSES															
Automatic control opening system	AUTOMATIC CONTROL SYSTEM																		
		window sensors	0,00%										50€/finestra	3					
		window actuator	0,00%							1	100 €/finest	ra		1	50 €finest	ra			
		motoo station	0.00%								150 €				5 000 €				

Figure 51. Windows datasheet of EEnvest technical risks database

In Figure 51 are reported the technical risks of windows. On the left side there are the problems (air infiltration, thermal bridge, water infiltration, glass breakages) and the respective possible independent causes (such as air infiltration, windows frame, components connections, manufacturing failures). The technical risk data identified with impacts and a respectively probability is reported for both indicators, energy gap (in pink colours) and damage (in violet color). Their amounts (in term of percentage of investment) and relative probability, have been populated with values coming from literature review, expert interviews, internal expertise, or calculated through parametric energy simulation.

Furthermore, in the datasheet of each building elements are reported alerts (in red) and the correction factors (in brown). These last, are specific for each occurrence, and they run the technical risk calculation process, modifying the impact-probability. As an example, in the window, the blower door test verification reduces to zero the air infiltration, that means no energy performance deviation at the planned energy performance is due to air infiltration. In addition, a particular attention to the window details in the construction and mounting phase through specific test (thermography) or specific procedures (compliance with certification guidelines) should help to minimize these energy and damage impacts.

Correction factors are also used to modify the probabilistic curve of technical risk impact of different energy renovation scenario and different combination of solution set.





4.2 DISTRICT HEATING RISK INDICATOR

As stated for the building envelope components, for building services too there is a lack of detailed information on probability and cost impacts of components' faults. Scientific literature is mainly focused on fault detection methods, however in some case, such as the displayed district heating component, reliable data could be found. In this part it is presented the technical risk data acquisition process used for the district heating component, a building technical system.

4.2.1 Literature review

The literature review on district heating substations was performed following the general breakdown structure for building services faults illustrated in Figure 52.



Figure 52. District heating breakdown technical risk structure template: probability and impact

Hyvärinen and Kohonen (1993) report that in district heating substation Fault Detection and Isolation methods (FDI) should consider the components. This statement confirms the selected approach, illustrated in this deliverable, which breaks down the renovation measure into its possible faults. Table 3 provides a breakdown of the most common faults found in components of a district heating substation.

Component Fault





Heat exchanger	Leakage, blockage, dirtiness
Valve	Stuck or binding, failure open or close, leakage
Controller	Drift, bias, hunting, faulty electronics, faulty computer program
Actuator	Shaft seizure or binding, failure open or close, bent or disconnected, linkage
Sensor	Bias, drift, poor location
Pipes	Clogging, leakage, faulty insulation

Table 3. District heating common faults (Pakanen, Hyvärinen, Kuismin, & Ahonen,1996).

On the one hand, concerning damage probability, faults collected by Månsson et al. [25] which provided detailed data on faults in district heating customer installation in Swedish utilities, are in line with the data displayed in the previous table. According to this study many faults occur in the customers' internal heating systems or somewhere in the installation due to leakages.

Euroheat & Power¹, the international network for district energy, which promotes sustainable heating and cooling, provides information about district heating installation risk, reliability and durability. This data was used to define how many damaged district heating substations are to expect out of a sample of 100 substations investigated.

On the other hand, concerning energy performance gap probability, 135 district heating substations in Sweden were analysed in order to identify major faults through automatic meter reading systems. Three different fault groups were determined: unsuitable heat load pattern, low average annual temperature difference, and poor substation control [25]. These faults were present in 74% of the cases. In addition, the paper provided data concerning the occurrence of the single fault.

4.2.2 Damage determination

Månsson et al. [25] provided probability of a fault occurrence and its breakdown into the single fault type. Taking, for instance, the problem of faulty actuators, this occurs 3 times out of 100 faulty components reported. Among these, the study reports that 77% are broken actuators and 22% are seized actuators. This information has been used to determine the impact levels, replacing a broken actuator costs more (high impact) than the work required to repair a seized one (medium impact). Moreover, the percentage representing how many times this kind of faults have been found helps to give an indication on how the impact is distributed. In this example, the most probable case is the most relevant in terms of cost as well.

¹ https://www.euroheat.org/





Probability risk definition breakdown DISTRICT HEATING -> probabilities and impacts definition



Figure 53 Probability and impact definition for district heating

As a general consideration, the three damage levels were determined as follows:

- Low: company call fee, small intervention to repair a localized damage, reduced costs for the materials, replacement of minor components.
- Medium: company call fee, plus localized repair intervention with some parts substitution.
- High: company call fee and extensive repair or total component replacement, due to major damage.

Correction factors for the single components were identified. These factors act on the probability, changing its value if a condition is satisfied. The correction factors applied to the damage are:

- Certification: presence of a certification such as CE Directives/PED ensures a higher durability.
- Fouling detection: availability of a fouling detection system protects the heat exchanger from fouling related risks.

In addition to the specific correction factors, in commercial office buildings, the adoption of a maintenance program is a measure that prevents running costs from future increasing, achieves positive results due to a correct operation of the building system. Maintenance program can be considered a correction factor that reduces the technical risk indicators, decreasing the occurrences' probabilities to which it relates. Maintenance program is also considered a mitigation measure.

Building commissioning is a cost-effective measure, which ensures that buildings in the operation phase deliver the performance and energy savings defined in the design phase. When implemented, it reduces the technical risk both in terms of energy performance gap and damage indicators, because buildings tend to have a higher energy efficiency and lower





maintenance costs. In this sense, commissioning is considered a systematic approach to quality assurance and performance risk management [26]. Therefore, in EEnvest framework, it is treated as a correction factor and a mitigation measure.

4.2.3 Energy performance gap

Thanks to the literature review, the probability related to the faults, which are responsible for an energy performance gap, could be determined [25]. However, no data for impact determination was available. Hence, a parametric study on 4 case studies which implement district heating system across Europe was conducted. The 'efficiency district heating net' parameter of the corresponding PHPP model was arbitrary varied between 100% and 85%, the resulting Primary Energy Renewable (PER) was observed (Figure 54). For instance, an efficiency degradation of 10% causes a corresponding primary energy increase of about 6%. These results permitted to estimate the impact in terms of kWh/m²a of the three faults.



Figure 54. Parametric study efficiency impact on PER.

One of the most relevant outcomes of the above-mentioned study is that an automatic meter reading system can assure an effective fault detection, for this reason the presence of such system was inserted as a correction factor and therefore as a mitigation measure in EEnvest approach.

4.2.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, the data derived from literature sources was condensed in Figure 55. The column on the left reports the probability values; first a general value, which represents how many faulty district heating substations out of 100 installed substations are expected. Among these systems faults are distributed as indicated by the other percentages associated. Damage and energy performance gap impact have been divided in 3 levels (low, mid, high). For each level the impact is represented by a percentage of initial investment cost and a probability this event occurs. Finally, a column for components lifespan and correction factors were included





	MEASU	RE										DA	TABAS	E						
			PROB	ABILITY		ENERG	Y PERF	ORMAN	CE GAP				DAN	IAGE			LIFESPAN	CORF	RECTION FACTORS	\$
			Literature	Interview			Heating	demand	i				Investm	ent cost						
	DISTRICT HE	EATING			LOW		MID		н	HIGH		LOW		ID	H	ЭН		Automatic meter reading system	Certification (PED, F101/F103-	Fouling detection
					% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.	% Inv.	Prob.				
																		Yes/No	Yes/No	Yes/No
DISTRICT HEATING SUBSTATION	DAMAGES		35%									20		40		40				
		Water leakage	33%								2%	33,3%	3%	33,3%	6%	33,3%	20		0,5	
		Heat exchanger	3%								3%	8,0%	5%	81,0%	16%	11,0%	15		0,5	1,0
		Control Valve	13%								1%	31,0%	3%	34,0%	11%	35,0%	15		0,5	
		Actuators	10%								1%	4,0%	3%	24,0%	8%	72,0%	10		0,5	
		Control system and controller	5%								2%	35,0%	8%	16,0%	11%	49,0%	20		0,5	
		Inferior gaskets	5%								1%	33,3%	3%	33,3%	4%	33,3%	10		0,5	
		Circulation pumps		1%							1%	33,3%	3%	33,3%	4%	33,3%	15		0,5	
	ENERGYPER	RFORMANCE GAP	74%																	
		Unsuitable heat load pattern	22%		1%	33%	2%	33%	5%	33%								1,0		
		Low average annual temperature difference	68%		1%	33%	2%	33%	5%	33%								1,0		
		Poor substation control	12%		3%	33%	5%	33%	10%	33%								1,0		

Figure 55. Conclusion: damages of district heating

In this section, the methodology for analysing damages was applied to one component of building services. In addition to the planned interviews, a simulation campaign, as done in the case of the window element, will be implemented here as well, to determine the risk associated to performance gap.

Eventually, risk data (probability and impact) of each component needs to be put together, assembling the risk for the district heating technology. The hypothesis of independence of the different problems has been assumed for two reasons: on the one hand because no data was found in literature which could help to describe a dependence of a problem from one other; on the other hand this level of detail outmatch the project purpose.




5 DATA MANAGEMENT IN WP2

H2020 projects require consortiums to describe the plan for management of data retrieved, used and analyzed during the project. The full description of the data management is part of WP1 – Project Management, deliverable D1.3 - Data Management Plan.

In order to make it easier for the reader to consolidate the information about data management in the different WPs, this paragraph is meant to list and describe the data and information that were used for the development of Work package 2, this deliverable and EEnvest technical risk database.

The technical risk data collected in the WP2 comes from (i) literature, on several articles on different topics, in part reported in the Bibliography, (ii) interviews to building experts, building manager, Building and facility managers, Constructors, ESCO (iii) energy performance simulation.

Management of data – Technical Risk Database					
Source of data	Literature	Interviews Single and private interviews	Energy performance simulation		
Use of data	Technical risk data will be collected to create the database: identification of the occurrences, cause- effects process, and impact-probability.	 Interview's focus changes in relation to the stakeholders involved: ESCO: building envelope elements and technical systems Building and facility managers: building envelope elements and technical systems (maintenance issues) Constructors: building envelope elements and technical systems Building experts: as architects for building envelope elements, or mechanic engineers for technical systems Data and information collected are and will be used mainly to define the technical risks occurrences, impact and probability, and in the energy simulation. These data are no public. The data, one time analyzed and homogenized using a same unit of measurement, will be integrated in the Envest technical risk database, in the platform. 	The results obtained from the energy simulation process will be collected in the EEnvest technical risk database, in the platform.		
Storage Location	MS Sharepoint folder, shared with the EEnvest Consortium project partners and EURAC server	EURAC server – private data	MS Sharepoint folder, shared with the EEnvest Consortium project partners and EURAC server		
Expected results	EEnvest technical risk database, in the platform.				
Relation with other WPs	EEnvest database and technical risk calculation process will be uploaded in the EEnvest web platform, WP5. The probabilistic trend of each occurrences (impact-probability) will be used in WP3.				





6 CONCLUSION

This report presents the work done in WP2 on technical risks of energy renovation of commercial building, from the definition to the assessment.

Technical risk analysis in building sector is a complex and multi-faceted theme that depends on several cause-effect choices taken from different experts (design teams, constructors, investors, users...) at different staged of the building projects (design, construction or operation). Within EEnvest project, the indicators identified to carry out the technical risk analysis and the relative economic deviation from the investment are two: the *energy performance gap* indicator and the *damage indicator* he energy performance gap and the damage.

The report describes the analysis process used for the determination of technical risks indicators, which in turn are used to determine the economic deviation for a possible renovation investment of a commercial building, defined to estimate technical risk and therefore the probable economic losses connected. The first one estimates the energy performance deviation between predicted and real energy consumption; the second one takes into account economic losses due to malfunctioning, errors, failure or breakages of the installed components. Both indicators (D51) will be used independently in the evaluation of the business plan in the EEnvest web-platform (WP5).

Furthermore, in this report the technical risk calculation method developed for EEnvest webplatform is described, from the inputs (building features) to the outputs (economic indicators). Technical risk calculation flow is activated user, and through a statistic calculation method, permits to extract the final value of the two technical risk indicators, with a range of probabilityimpact, as percentage of investment. This calculation process takes place thanks to the EEnvest technical risk database, where several trend probabilistic impacts of energy performance gap and damage of each building element and technical system are collected. The top-down approach followed to establish the methodology started with a deep literature analysis. The technical risk data collected from literature was cross-checked with the real experiences of experts, through interviews. Missing data on risk impact on the investment was calculated through parametric simulations.

Currently, the data collection process is under development. The next deliverable in WP2 (D2.2) will contain the technical risk datasheet of building's elements and technical systems (EEnvest technical risk database), in term of numeric impact and completed with mitigation measures.

In D2.1 the technical risk calculation methodology developed in WP2 is reported, with the support of the other PPs: SINLOC and POLIMI for data set organization, calculation and managing of EEnvest technical risk database.





Bibliography

- ISO, "ISO 31000:2009(en) Risk management Principles and guidelines," https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:31000:ed-1:v1:en:term:2.17, International Organization for Standardization, 2009.
- [2] "Wikipedia," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Risk. [Accessed 17 12 2019].
- [3] Businessdictionary, 01 10 2019. [Online]. Available: http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/technical-risk.html.
- [4] ISO, "Risk management Vocabulary Guidelines for use in standards PD ISO/IEC Guide 73:2002," British Standards, International Organization for Standardization, 2002.
- [5] IPEEC, "Building Energy Performance Gap Issues. An International Review.," International Partnership for Energy Efficiency Cooperation, Building Energy Efficiency Taskgroup, 2019.
- [6] Chris van Dronkelaar, Mark Dowson, Catalina Spataru, Dejan Mumovic, "A Review of the Regulatory energy Performance Gap and its Underlying Causes in Non-domestic Buildings," *Frontiers in Mechanical Engineeering*, vol. 1, no. Article 17, 13 January 2016.
- [7] Yuting Qi, Queena K. Qian, Frits M. Meijer, Henk J. Visscher, "Identification of Quality Failures in Building Energy Renovation Projects in Northern China," *MDPI*, vol. 11, no. Sustainability, p. 4203, 3 August 2019.
- [8] Saverio Mecca and Marco Masera, "TECHNICAL RISK ANALYSIS IN CONSTRUCTION BY MEANS OF FMEA METHODOLOGY," in *Liverpool John Moores University*, 15th Annual ARCOM Conference, 1999.
- [9] A. Maged, Composite FMEA for risk assessment in the construction projects, master of science in managment engineering ed., Politecnicao di Milano Como Campus School of industrial and information engineering, 2014.
- [10] R. W. Saaty, "The Analytic Hierachy Process What it is and how it is used," http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0270-0255(87)90473-8., vol. 9, no. Math. model, pp. 161-176, 1987.
- [11] Francesca Roberti, Ulrich Filippi Oberegger, Elena Lucchi, Alexandra Troi, "Energy retrofit and conservation of a historic building using multi-objective optimization and an analytic hierarchy process," *Elsevier*, vol. 138, no. Energy and Buildings, pp. 1-10, 2017.
- [12] Xing Shi, Binghui Si, Jiangshan Zhao, Zhichao Tian, Chao Wang, Xing Jin, Xin Zhou, "Magnitude, causes, and solutions of the performance gap of buildings: a review," *MDPI*, vol. 11, no. Sustainability, p. 937, 2019.





- [13] Elena Cuerda, Olivia Guerra-Santin, Juan JoséSendra, Fco. Javier Neila,
 "Understanding the performance gap in energy retrofitting: Measured input data for adjusting building simulation models," *Elsevier - Energy & Buildings*, p. 209, 2020.
- [14] P. d. Wilde, "The gap between predicted and measured energy performance ofbuildings: A framework for investigation," *Elsevier*, vol. 41, no. Automation in Construction, p. 40–49, 2014.
- [15] Christopher. M. Stoppel, Fernanda Leite, "Evaluating building energy model performance of LEED buildings: Identifying potential sources of error through aggregate analysis," *Elsevier*, vol. 65, no. Energy and Buildings, p. 185–196, 2013.
- [16] Giulia Paoletti, Stefano Avesani, Dagmar Exner, Roberto Lollini, "Designing low energy buildings: application of a parametric tool and case studies," Louvain La Neuve, Belgium, PLEA 2011.
- [17] Som Shrestha, Andre Desjarlais, Laverne Dalgleish, Lisa C. Ng, Diana Hun, Steven J. Emmerich, Gina Accawi, "Moisture Transfer in Commercial Buildings due to the Air Leakage: A New Feature in the Online Airtightness Savings Calculator," U.S. Department of Commerce, Clearwater, FL, 2019.
- [18] Som Shrestha, Lisa Ng, Steven Emmerich, Diana Hun, Andre Desjarlais, Laverne Dalgleish, "Online Airtightness Savings Calculator forCommercial Buildings in the US, Canada and China," UT-Battelle, LLC, under Contract No. DE-AC05-00OR22725 with the U.S. Department of Energy., 2014.
- [19] Steven J. Emmerich, Andrew K. Persily, Timothy P. McDowell, "Impact of Infiltration on Heating and Cooling Loads in U.S. Office Buildings," 2005.
- [20] Steven J. Emmerich, Andrew K. Persily, "Analysis of U.S Commercial Building Envelope Air Leakage Database to Support Sustainable Building Design," *The International Journal of Ventilation*, vol. 14, no. 4, 2014.
- [21] Chadi Younes, Caesar Abi Shdid, Gima Bitsuamlak, "Air infiltration through building envelopes: A review," *Editors Choice Collection*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 267-302, 2012.
- [22] Dickerhoff, DJ, Grimsrud, DT, Lipshutz, RD, "Component leakage testing in residential buildings," in *Proceedings of the American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy*, Santa Cruz, CA, 1982.
- [23] Nathan Van Den Bossche, Arnold Janssens, "Airtightness and watertightness of window frames: Comparison of performance and requirements," *Elsevier*, vol. 110, no. building and Environment, pp. 129-139, 2016.
- [24] Benjamin Barnes, Axy Pagán-Vázquez, Richard Liesen, Justine Yu, Nicholas Alexander, "Window Related Thermal Bridges," ASHRAE, 2013.
- [25] H. Gadd and S. Werner, "Fault detection in district heating substations," *Applied Energy*, pp. 51-59, 2015.
- [26] E. Mills, "Building commissioning: a golden opportunity for reducing energy costs and greenhouse gas emissions in the United States," *Energy Efficiency*, pp. 145-173, 2011.





- [27] Turner C, Frankel M, "Energy Performance of LEED ® for New Construction Buildings," *Mendeley*, vol. New Buildings Institute, no. https://www.mendeley.com/catalogue/72444923-cd61-3c5a-a36d-1d1857521bff/, pp. 1-42, 2008.
- [28] Carbon Trust 2011, "Closing the gap: Lessons learned on realizing the potential of low carbon buildings.," Carbon Trust, Londoon, July 2011.
- [29] Green Building Council Australia (GBCA), "Achieving the Green Dream: Predicted vs. Actual.," GBCA, August 2013.
- [30] Jouko Pakanen, Juhani Hyvärinen, Juha Kuismin & Markku Ahonen, Functional description of a district heating substation, VTT OFFSETPAINO, ESPOO 1996 ed., Vols. ISBN 951-38-4975-9, J. –. UTGIVARE, Ed., VTT Building Technology, 1996.
- [31] Juhani Hyvärinen, Reijo Kohonen, "A system concept for real-time simulation of HVAC systems for building optimization, fault detection and diagnosis (BOFD)," *IEA Energy Conservation News*, no. 17, pp. 8-13, 1993.
- [32] Sara Månssona, Per-Olof Johansson Kallioniemi, Marcus Therna Tijs Van Oevelen, Kerstin Sernhed, "Faults in district heating customer installations and ways to approach them: Experiences from Swedish utilities," *ELSEVIER*, vol. 180, no. Energy, pp. 163-174, 2019.
- [33] S. Månsson, P.-O. J. Kallioniemi, M. Thern and T. Van Oevelen, "Faults in district heating customer installations and ways to approach them: Experiences from Swedish utilities," *Energy*, pp. 163-174, 2019.
- [34] J. Pakanen, J. Hyvärinen, J. Kuismin and M. Ahonen, "Fault diagnosis methods for district heating substations," *VTT Building Technology*, 1996.





Annex A Combination method of technical risk

1 Document version

Author: Ulrich Filippi Oberegger , EURAC Document version: 1.0 Date: 5 June 2020

2 Objective

The goal is to determine the probability of investment increase in percent related to a combination of issues or failures encountered during building design and operation (henceforth called a *risk* factor or simply a *factor*). This information is important, e.g., for investors.

To this aim, it is necessary to combine the investment increases and respective probabilities of occurrence caused by each single issue. This data is a required input to the calculation.

Note: the approach described in the following can be applied to determine the energy gap, i.e., the increase in building energy use intensity as quantified, e.g., in percentage of kWh/m2a. The only difference is that the investment increase has to be replaced by the energy gap.

3 Inputs

For each factor to be considered, a table specifying the investment increase and respective probability of occurrence is required. In the following, we consider the example of two factors (random variables) X and Y and assume the data summarized in Tables 1 and 2.

Investment increase	Probability of occurrence
0	0.97
0.066	0.0075
0.13	0.015
0.2	0.0075

Investment increase	Probability of occurrence
0	0.965
0.066	0.00875
0.27	0.0175
0.63	0.00875

 Table 1: Data for factor X

Table 2: Data for factor *Y*

This data must be provided as input. We consider the investment increase in terms of a fixed monetary unit (e.g., 1000 Euro). If the base investment (total investment to construct the building) is the same for all factors, this amount can be easily translated into investment increase percentages.

Table 1 is to be interpreted as follows. If nothing goes wrong with factor X, there is no increase in investment. This happens in 97% of the cases, because the probability of occurrence of zero investment increase is 0.97. For instance, if factor X refers to the installation of 1 m2 of a transparent envelope construction element (a "window"), then we would expect about 3 m2 to be "faulty" on average for every 100 m2 of this element deployed. The remaining entries in Table 1 refer to the different severities in faulty installations. A low (less severe) investment increase of 0.066 occurs in 0.75% of deployed elements. A moderate investment increase of 0.13 occurs in 1.5% of deployed elements, and so on.

4 Calculation





The *probability mass function* (pmf) for the combined influence of factors X and Y is given by a random variable Z = X + Y. The pmf of Z indicates the discrete probability distribution for all possible total investment increases caused by all possible combinations of outcomes for factors X and Y. If factors X and Y are independent, it is calculated as follows.

$$P(Z = z) = \sum_{x} P(X = x)P(Y = z - x)$$
(1)

Expressed in words, the probability that the total investment increase is z is given as a sum over all possible investment increases x caused by factor X. Each such x gives a term in the sum, which is the probability that an investment increase of x is caused by factor X multiplied by the probability that an investment increase of z - x is caused by factor Y.

In the following we assume that factors *X* and *Y* are independent, which means that Equation 1 holds.

5 Direct approach algorithm

To compute the *pmf* for Z, a basic algorithm goes as follows. We assume that a set X of tuples (Ix, Px) containing all possible investment increases Ix and associated probabilities Px related to factor X is given. Analogously, a set Y containing tuples (Iy, Py) is given.

Create an empty set Z, which will hold tuples (I_z , P_z) containing all possible total investments I_z and associated probabilities P_z .

For all possible investment increases *Ix* caused by *X* (loop over the set *X*):

For all possible investment increases *Iy* caused by *Y* (loop over the set *Y*):

Compute the total investment increase Iz = Ix + Iy. Compute P = Px + Py. If Iz appears in a tuple in Z: Add P to Pz in tuple (Iz, Pz).

Else:

Add tuple (Iz, P) to set Z.

6 Exact result

The exact result for the overall investment increase probability distribution Z with inputs given in Tables 1 and 2 obtained by applying the algorithm in Section 5 is shown in Table 3.

Investment increase	Probability of occurrence
0	0.93605
0.066	0.015725
0.13	0.014475
0.132	6.5625e-5
0.196	0.00013125
0.2	0.0072375
0.266	6.5625e-5
0.27	0.016975
0.336	0.00013125
0.4	0.0002625
0.47	0.00013125
0.63	0.0084875
0.696	6.5625e-05
0.76	0.00013125
0.83	6.5625e-05

Table 3: Exact probability mass function for factor Z = X + Y

7 Scalability





For more than two factors, the algorithm given in Section 5 can simply be applied multiple times, adding one factor at a time. For instance, the pmf of Z = X1 + X2 + X3 for three independent factors X1, X2, X3 is calculated by first calculating Zt = X1 + X2 and then calculating Z = Zt + X3.

While an exact calculation is preferable for a small number of factors, the algorithm given in Section 5 does not scale up well, because it requires two nested loops and a search in the innermost loop. Therefore, although applicable in principle for an arbitrary number of factors by simply repeating the process, it becomes computationally infeasible for a higher number of factors. For instance, if four potential investment increases are considered for each of two factors (e.g., no, low, medium, and high increase), there can be up to sixteen possible total investment increases. Each added factor may thus lead to a multiplication by four of the number of possible total investment increases. With ten factors, the number of possible total investment increases. For an even larger number of factors, storage may also to be considered.

A possible solution could be to approximate the pmf for Z by one that again considers only four different risk levels. Then, the calculation in Section 5 scales up well to any number of factors.

Another possibility is to consider a Monte Carlo approach.

8 Monte Carlo approach

For a higher number of factors, rather than directly computing all possible total investment increases, we can perform a number N of computationally cheap simulations. In each simulation, a sample investment increase Ixi is drawn according to the *pmf* of each factor Xi. The total investment increase is the sum of all single investment increases:

$$I_x = \sum_i I_{x_i} \tag{2}$$

Where Ix denotes the investment increase of $X = \sum_i Xi$ To calculate the approximate probability for Ix, it is sufficient to count the number of times this investment is encountered and then divide by N at the end of the Monte Carlo simulation. In algorithmic form:

Choose a sufficiently large integer N (e.g., 100000). The higher N, the more also very low probabilities can be accounted for. If there is no need to capture very low probabilities, a smaller N can be chosen. If the installed surface of an element is very large (e.g., a transparent envelope element of a large office building or of multiple office buildings), low risks may occur.

Create an empty set Z, which will hold tuples (I_z , P_z) containing all possible total investments I_z and associated approximate probabilities P_z .

For i = 1 to N:

Randomly choose Ix according to the *pmf* of X. Randomly choose Iy according to the *pmf* of Y. Compute Iz = Ix + Iy. If Iz appears in a tuple in Z: Increment Pz by 1 in tuple (Iz, Pz). Else: Add tuple (Iz, 1) to set Z.

Divide each element of P_z by N.

9 Approximated result

The approximated result for the overall investment increase probability distribution Z with inputs given in Tables 1 and 2 obtained by choosing N = 100000 applying the algorithm in Section 8 is shown in Table 4. This result depends on the pseudo-random number generator and seed used.

10 Scalability





The Monte Carlo approach scales up well. A potential issue is that the probabilities for certain combinations of failures are very low and cannot be detected without choosing a very large N. However, this also means that they will very rarely happen in practice. For a very high number of factors, storage may also become important.

Investment increase	Probability of occurrence
0	0.93521
0.066	0.01569
0.13	0.01469
0.132	0.00012
0.196	0.00018
0.2	0.00743
0.266	0.00012
0.27	0.01728
0.336	0.00019
0.4	0.00029
0.47	0.00014
0.63	0.00837
0.696	0.00011
0.76	0.0001
0.83	8e-05
0	0.93521
0.066	0.01569
0.13	0.01469
0.132	0.00012
0.196	0.00018
0.2	0.00743
0.266	0.00012
0.27	0.01728
0.336	0.00019
0.4	0.00029
0.47	0.00014
0.63	0.00837
0.696	0.00011
0.76	0.0001
0.83	8e-05

Table 4: Approximated probability mass function for factor Z = X + Y